Intestinal IgA Synthesis: Localization and Requirements for IgA Class Switch Recombination

Peter Bergqvist



GÖTEBORGS UNIVERSITET

Department of Microbiology and Immunology Institute of Biomedicine at Sahlgrenska Academy University of Gothenburg Sweden, 2009

© Peter Bergqvist 2009 All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without written permission. **ISBN:** 978-91-628-7845-0 Printed By Geson Hylte Tryck, Gothenburg, 2009



"Vad det är skönt, att inte veta sitt eget bästa Att gå på en smäll, och sen rusa som en tjur rakt in i nästa" *Bob Hund*

Intestinal IgA Synthesis: Localization and Requirements for IgA Class Switch Recombination

Peter Bergqvist

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Institute of Biomedicine, University of Gothenburg, Sweden, 2009

Abstract

Production of IgA at mucosal surfaces is one of the most striking features of the mucosal immune system. Despite that IgA was first discovered in the 1950's and secretory IgA described in gut secretions and breast milk in the mid 1960's we still have limited information about the sites and exact requirements for IgA class switch recombination. The aim of this thesis work was to investigate potential locations for induction of T-independent IgA responses using CD40 deficient mice as a model. Furthermore, as germ free mice have very poor IgA levels in the gut lamina propria (LP) we investigated whether this is because of a lack of IgA CSR at the inductive sites or whether the commensal flora is involved in maintaining IgA plasma cells at the effector site in the LP itself. Finally we used new ways of assessing the development of T-dependent IgA responses during oral immunizations using NP-hapten-conjugated cholera toxin as our oral immunogen.

CD40^{-/-} mice have very low levels of serum IgG, are unable to form GC and as a consequence, cannot respond to TD antigens. However, we found that CD40^{-/-} mice hosted near normal levels of IgA plasma cells in the gut LP, indicating that IgA CSR was intact and could occur in the absence of GC-formations and CD40-signalling. The ongoing controversy between researchers claiming evidence for two types of IgA CSR processes in the gut; one TD in the organized gut associated lymphoid system (GALT), and another pathway dependent on the commensal flora and ongoing in the non-organized LP itself, prompted us to investigate these theories in more detail using CD40^{-/-} mice and molecular markers for IgA CSR. We found no evidence for IgA CSR in the gut LP and that IgA CSR was restricted to the GALT and the Peyer's patches (PP), in particular. In support of this notion, we observed clonally related Ig heavy chain variable sequences in widely separated segments of small intestinal biopsies, suggesting a common source rather than a disseminated process in the non-organized gut tissue. In addition, analyzing the GL7^{int} cells for molecular markers of IgA CSR clearly showed that the cells could undergo IgA CSR despite not being derived from histologically detectable GCs. Therefore, we believe that the main pathway for CD40-independent IgA CSR is via the PPs, as in WT mice, and that the IgA CSR precedes the GC-stage where somatic hypermutations are introduced.

Furthermore, studies in germ free mice revealed that GCs were present and IgA CSR was ongoing in the PPs, despite the lack of commensal gut microflora. Therefore, we hypothesize that the effector site, the lamina propria, is deficient in supporting IgA responses.

Finally, we studied TD IgA responses at a molecular level during oral immunizations using NP-CT conjugates as antigen. We found that repeated oral immunization generated affinity matured and clonally selected IgA responses originating from the GALT. Three immunizations generated 15% antigen specific IgA plasma cells in the LP, distributed evenly thoughout the intestine.

In conclusion, we have provided evidence that TI IgA CSR occurs exclusively in the GALT prior to SHM in GCs. IgA CSR activity was never found in the non-organized LP, and peritoneal cavity B-cells do not significantly contribute to LP IgA plasma cells. Additionally, we show that the induction of IgA CSR is intact in GF mice, but subsequent IgA plasma cell development appears to be impaired, resulting in a 90% reduction in gut IgA plasma cells in the small and large intestine. Finally we show that TD IgA responses are efficiently generated in the GALT and that the responses early on undergo mutational selection events that result in high affinity IgA plasma cells seeding the gut LP.

Keywords: IgA, Intestine, Gut Associated Lymphoid Tissue, Class Switch Recombination, CD40, Germ Free **ISBN:** 978-91-628-7845-0

Original papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I-IV):

- I. Gut IgA Class Switch Recombination in the Absence of CD40 Does Not Occur in the Lamina Propria and Is Independent of Germinal Centers. Bergqvist, P., Gardby, E., Stensson, A., Bemark, M. & Lycke, N.Y. *J Immunol* 177, 7772-7783 (2006).
- II. T Cell-independent IgA Class Switch Recombination is Restricted to the GALT and Occurs Prior to Manifest Germinal Center Formation. Bergqvist, P., Stensson, A., Lycke, N.Y. & Bemark, M. Submitted to J Immunol
- III. Germ Free Mice Express High IgA Class Switch Recombination Activity But Develop Few IgA Producing Plasma Cells. Bergqvist, P., Stensson, A., Bemark, M., & Lycke, N.Y. Manuscript
- IV. The T-dependent specific gut anti-NP ((4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl) IgA response is oligoclonal and is affinity matured in gut associated lymphoid tissue. Bergqvist, P., Bemark, M., Stensson, A., Holmberg, A. & Lycke, N.Y. Manuscript

Reprints were made with permission from the publisher

Table of contents

Abstract	
Original papers	
Table of contents	
Abbreviations	8
Introduction	9
Antibody structure and function	9
B-cell development	11
Germinal center reaction	14
Affinity maturation	17
The gut mucosal immune system	18
The gut associated lymphoid tissue	21
Lamina propria	22
Aims	25
Material and methods	27
Mice	27
$I_{\alpha} \Delta$ measurements	27
Germinal center identification	27
IL F free lamina propria	28
PCR	28
gPCR arrays	29
Detection of switch α -CT by nested PCR	30
NP specific gene analysis	30
Results and comments	33
TI IgA production is unaltered in CD40 ^{-/-} mice	33
Peyer's patches are sites for CD40 independent IgA CSR	34
No detectable IgA CSR in the lamina propria	35
Peritoneal cavity B-cells do not contribute to gut IgA plasma cells	35
ILF frequency and distribution is unaltered in CD40 ^{-/-} mice	37
Plasma cell turnover is similar in WT and CD40 ^{-/-} mice	37
GL7 intermediate cells show evidence of IgA CSR	37
Clonally related IgA plasma cells are present at isolated sites in the small intestine	38
Germ free mice host few IgA plasma cells in the gut, but IgA CSR activity is intact	39
Expression of gut homing receptors in GF mice	40
Bacterial colonization of GF mice restores of intestinal IgA plasma cell numbers	10
Without altering IgA CSK Dis changes in the measurtaria lymph nodes following heaterial colonization	40
TD Ig A responses are eligited by NP CT applymentes	40
High affinity clones are selected early during a TD antigen response	41
Discussion	12
LaA CSP in CD40 ^{-/-} mice	43 43
IgA CSR in germ free mice	43
NP-specific T-cell dependent responses	40
Conclusions	
	51
Acknowledgements	52
References	54
Paper I-IV	

Abbreviations

αCT	Alpha circle transcripts
Ag	Antigen
AID	Activation induced cytidine deaminase
APC	Antigen presenting cell
APRIL	A proliferation inducing ligand
BAFF	B-cell activation factor of the tumor necrosis factor family
BCR	B-cell receptor
CD40L	CD40 ligand
CDR	Complement determining region
CSR	Class switch recombination
СТ	Cholera toxin
DC	Dendritic cell
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbet assay
ELISPOT	Enzyme linked immunosorbet spot assay
EC	Epithelial cell
FACS	Fluorescent activated cell sorting
FAE	Follicle associated epithelia
FDC	Follicular dendritic cell
FWR	Framework region
GALT	Gut associated lymphoid tissue
GC	Germinal center
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
ILF	Isolated lymphoid follicle
IgA	Immunoglobulin A
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
LP	Lamina propria
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAdCAM-1	Mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MLN	Mesenteric lymph node
NP	(4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl
NHEJ	Non homologous end joining
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
SED	Sub epithelial dome
SFC	Spot forming cells
SHM	Somatic hypermutation
RA	Retinoic acid
RAG	Recombination activating gene
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RSS	Recombination signal sequence
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction
PP	Peyer's Patch
TD	T-cell dependent
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TI	T-cell independent
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin

Introduction

The immune system is divided into an innate and an adaptive part, where the innate immune system provides the initial response to a foreign antigen, be it food antigens or microbes. This is especially true for the mucosal immune system found in the gastrointestinal tract. The mucosa of the gut serves as a first line of defence against pathogens (1, 2). At the same time it coexists in homeostasis with the gut commensal flora, which is critical for a healthy life. To be able to discriminate between pathogens and dietary antigens, a delicate regulatory network has been developed at mucosal sites. This includes a physical barrier, production of mucus, sensing of luminal antigens by pattern recognition receptors (PRR) and production of secretory IgA (SIgA) (3, 4). The cells responsible for innate immunity include epithelial cells, monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils and dendritic cells (DC). Whereas the innate immune system is unable to recognize specific antigens and cannot develop memory functions the adaptive immune system is specific for antigenic epitopes through distinct receptors on T and B – lymphocytes. Following clonal expansion of T and B lymphocytes after antigen recognition long term memory is generated. One of the main functions of B-cells is to produce and secrete high affinity antibodies to protect the host from invading pathogens. To be able to respond to a wide variety of pathogens, toxins and other foreign agents, B-cells go through several selection and maturational events when formed in the bone marrow (5). After antigen activation naïve IgM B cells undergo expansion, class switch recombination (CSR) to downstream isotypes and somatic hypermutations (SHM) in the inductive lymphoid tissues before they become antibody secreting plasma cells (6). I will now explain the major events during B-cell development in the bone marrow (BM) as well as in peripheral lymphoid tissues, such as lymph nodes or spleen, following antigen activation with emphasis placed on gut IgA B-cell development.

Antibody structure and function

The key component of humoral immunity is production of antibodies. High affinity antibodies effectively eliminate invading pathogens by several different mechanisms depending on the antibody isotype. The different isotypes activate and recruit components of the immune system which can effectively target and eliminate an infection. In addition, antibodies can prevent pathogens to adhere to the host cells as well as neutralize toxins, which are thought to be the primary function of secretory IgA (SIgA) at mucosal surfaces (7-9). SIgA is produced by plasma cells in the mucosal lamina propria (LP) and secreted into the gut lumen where it can

adhere to bacteria or bacterial toxins, thus inhibiting bacterial adhesion and neutralizing toxins. Thus, bacteria which are trapped by SIgA antibodies are unable to adhere to or penetrate the mucosal barrier and are efficiently eliminated from the host (10). The multitude of antigens the body can encounter is enormous and in order to deal with such complexity B cells with very diverse antigen-binding ability is developed in the bone marrow (5).

Immunoglobulin structure

Although Ig molecules have widely different antigenic binding properties and effector functions they share a common structure which consists of two heavy chains and two light chains (Fig. 1) (11). Both chains are comprised of a constant (C) and a variable (V) region where the $C_{\rm H}$ regions carries the effector function of the antibody, and the V regions confer the antigen



Figure 1

The image shows a schematic drawing of an immunoglobulin. The lower part of the antibody is the $C_{\rm H}$ chain which determines the activity of the antibody. This part is also named the FC region. The upper part of the antibody consists of both the heavy chain and the light chain and is the part of the antibody which interacts with the antigen and is named the Fab region. The three different hypervariable CDR regions are marked in the figure, which are the only parts of the antibody in direct contact with the antigen. The different chains are held together covalently by disulfide bonds (-S-S-).

specific binding properties of the Ig molecule. The heavy and the light chains are assembled early during B-cell development by combining variable (V) diversity (D) and joining (J) segments to various constant regions by a recombination activated gene (RAG) dependent process (12-14). In addition, the Ig heavy chain locus in mice contains five (eight) different C regions: μ , δ , γ , ε and α , where γ can be subdivided into $\gamma 1$, $\gamma 2a$, $\gamma 2b$ (or $\gamma 2c$) and $\gamma 3$ (Fig. 2). Naïve B-cells express the IgM heavy chain (15, 16). Following antigen activation this expression is altered by CSR, which generates B cells with down stream isotypes such as IgA in the periphery (17, 18). Depending on where the B-cell is activated and on which cytokines are released in the vicinity of the activated B-cell, different isotypes are favoured. The most important switch factor for

IgA differentiation is TGF- β (19, 20). The light chain consists of two different constant regions, κ or λ , where κ is the dominant light chain in the mouse. In fact 95% of all antibodies in mice carry the κ light chain (21). In contrast to C regions, the V regions of the antibody are highly variable to enable a wide antigen-binding repertoire. This variability is generated through the combination of different V, D and J segments early during B-cell development by an antigen independent process in the bone marrow (22). In addition, following antigen activation somatic hypermutation (SHM) fine tune the binding properties of the antibody to increase the affinity of antigen binding. This is achieved through single base pair mutations of the V-genes and normally requires the establishment of a germinal center (GC) (23).

When an antibody binds antigen, the interaction occurs at three specific sites of the V region called the complement determining regions (CDRs) (24). These regions of the antibody are hypervariable and highly susceptible to SHM to allow a repertoire of antibodies able to bind many different antigens. The framework region (FWR) sequences between the CDRs contain far less mutations compared to the germline sequence than the CDRs (25). These sections are not in direct contact with the antigen, but are merely a framework in the antibody structure. The high variability of the CDR3 region is generated already during VDJ recombination, because the CDR3 includes the VDJ joints, where variability is generated not only by randomly combining different V, D and J segments but also by non-templated genetic alterations (14, 22). CDR1 and CDR2 on the other hand, are located within the V gene and the sequences are determined by the V segment that is used in that particular antibody. In addition to the variability generated during VDJ recombination, the CDR regions are hotspots for SHM during affinity maturation, which results in the high variability and high affinity towards the antigen (25). Together these processes generate antibody repertoires with vastly different antigen binding properties, necessary to protect the host from invading pathogens and toxins.

B-cell development

VDJ Recombination

B-cells develop early in ontogeny from haematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow and fetal liver (26). During development B-cells have to produce a functional B-cell receptor (BCR) to be able to interact with a distinct antigen. To create such a diverse repertoire of B cells, recognizing an almost infinite number of antigenic determinants (epitopes), the BCR is

generated by VDJ recombination, which requires expression of the recombination activating genes (RAG-1 and RAG-2), as already alluded to (12, 22, 27). In mice there are currently 110 described functional $V_{\rm H}$ genes, 85 pseudo $V_{\rm H}$ genes, 23 $D_{\rm H}$ genes and 4 $J_{\rm H}$ genes (28, 29). By randomly combining different V_{H} , D_{H} and J_{H} sequences an enormous variation in antigen specificity is achieved. In addition V-J recombination of the light chains adds variability to the produced antibody. However, the diversity is not only generated by combining different VDJ segments, but it is also generated by the recombination process itself. Each coding segment is flanked by a recombination signal sequence element (RSS) which RAG-1 and RAG-2 binds to and generates double stranded breaks (27, 30, 31). These ends of the broken DNA are asymmetrical and create a hairpin loop which has to be resolved before recombination continues. When the hairpins are resolved by Artemis/DNA-PKc complexes, proteins of the ubiquitously expressed non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) pathway, two hanging ends are created (32). These ends can be complemented by P-addition to form blunt ends, which are ligated together (33, 34). In addition, exonuclease activity can cut the non homologous ends and ligate the blunt ends together, and the enzyme terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) can add non-templated (N) nucleotides to the joint (35). Together these series of events ensure that every VDJ rearrangement is unique and highly variable. These recombination processes occur within the CDR3 region of the Ig gene and renders a unique "fingerprint" for each B-cell which can be traced later in the periphery by sequencing the $V_{\rm H}$ gene and analyzing the CDR3 region (36-38).

B-cell selection

The highly variable assembly of a functional BCR will not always result in a functional Ig gene. Some rearrangements will generate stop codons, or even worse; generate self reactive B-cells. Therefore, constant and careful surveillance of the newly generated Igs is required to ensure that self reactive B-cells are not allowed to circulate the body. Hence, every B-cell that produces a functional BCR is probed for self reactivity before, and shortly after exiting the bone marrow. If a B-cell generates a BCR with high affinity to self antigens at this point of development, the cells are eliminated by apoptosis (39-41). Alternatively, the BCR affinity can be altered by receptor editing to make it less prone to bind self antigens. However, B-cells with a low affinity to self antigens become anergic and these B-cells are unresponsive to their specific antigen, and if they encounter antigen in the periphery, T-cells cannot activate these B-cells (42, 43). In addition, immature B-cells in the periphery can be selected based on their BCR signalling strength. A tonic signalling in weak self-reactive B-cells is thought to generate marginal zone B-cells in the spleen (44). Thus, B-cells are carefully selected not to interact with self antigens before they are released into the blood and lymph. Follicular B-cells, that encounter antigen, are activated and receive cognate T-cell help to become Ig secreting plasma cells or long lived memory B-cells (45). This control mechanism ensures that the immune system is not directed towards self antigens, but rather reacts to foreign antigens. Should these control mechanisms fail, this could lead to autoimmunity.

B1-B cells

In addition to B-cell development in the bone marrow, a subset of B-cells named B-1 cells develop in the fetal liver (5). B-1 cells have self renewing capacity and occupy the peritoneal and pleural cavities in adult mice but can also be found in the spleen (46, 47). B1 cells can be further subdivided based on their surface expression of CD5 where B-1a B-cells are CD5⁺ and IgM^{high} and B-1b B-cells are CD5⁻ and IgM^{high} (46). B1 cells have been shown to contribute to natural serum IgM antibodies and studies have indicated that maybe as much as 50% of the mucosal IgA production originates from B1 B-cells in the peritoneal cavity (48, 49). However, at variance, other studies have failed to confirm this notion and have not found B1 cells to contribute significantly to the overall IgA production in the gut (50). The theory that B1 cells contributes significantly to gut IgA production has been incompletely challenged. Although it is thought that B1 cell responses are predominantly T-cell independent and directed mainly against bacterial antigens abundant in the gut lumen, it is still incompletely understood where the B-1 cells are triggered by antigen and undergo IgA CSR (51, 52).

T-cell dependent and independent antigens

B-cells in the periphery respond to antigen, but without co-stimulation and T-cell help B-cells die by apoptosis. Newly generated B-cells exit the bone marrow and circulate to the blood and lymph because there is a constant production of new B-cells with diverse antigenic specificities. B-cells are able to directly interact with soluble protein antigens through their BCR. B-cells are also capable of processing and presenting peptides on MHC class II molecules on the cell surface (53). CD4⁺ T cells, which are unable to interact with soluble antigens alone, recognize complexes with MHC class II presented peptides on the membrane of the antigen presenting

cell (APC) with the TCR. This recognition leads to activation of the T cell and upregulation of CD40L and other surface molecules. Since CD40 is the corresponding receptor for CD40L and expressed on the B cell surface the T cell can through cognate interaction stimulate the formation of GCs. In these hotspots for B cell expansion two critical processes are occurring , namely Ig CSR and SHM (54). Therefore, antigen responses that require T cell help for driving B cell expansion and differentiation are termed thymus dependent (TD) responses. One example of a TD antigen is cholera toxin (CT) which is widely used as a mucosal immunogen and adjuvant in experimental systems. The immunogenicity of CT is highly dependent on CD4⁺ T-cells, and no CT specific antibodies are generated in the absence of appropriate T-cell help (9, 55-57).

Some B-cells can be activated without cognate interaction, not requiring T-cells, and such B cell responses are named thymus independent (TI) responses. Normally, activation of B-cells by TI antigens does not lead to GC formation and hence very low levels of Ig CSR and SHM are observed in TI responses. Depending on the nature of the antigen, and how they activate B-cells, they can be grouped into TI type 1 (TI-1) and TI type 2 (TI-2) antigens. TI 1 antigens are typically polyclonal activators of B-cells (mitogens), such as bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS) which activate B-cells regardless of their antigenic specificity. TI-2 antigens are molecules with highly repetitive epitopes, such as bacterial flagellin, which are able to crosslink the BCRs which leads to B-cell activation (58). A major difference between the two types of TI antigens is that TI-2 antigens require a mature and functional BCR and they will not act as polyclonal activators. TI-1 antigens on the other hand, can activate immature B-cells without functional BCRs. In addition, TI-2 antigens require cytokines derived from CD4⁺ T cells to efficiently stimulate B-cell responses (59).

Germinal center reactions

During TD antibody responses B-cells interact with CD4⁺ T-cells via cognate interactions at the border of the B-cell follicle. In response to antigen exposure the T-cells upregulate CD40L, that interacts with CD40 on B-cells (60, 61). As aforementioned, these signalling events result in the formation of GC. The GC reaction is responsible for generating high affinity plasma cells and memory B-cells, and it can be divided into a dark zone and a light zone (62). Until recently, the hypothesis was that B-cell blasts named centroblasts, down-regulate their surface Ig expression and undergo heavy proliferation in the GC dark zone. During proliferation

mutations accumulate in the variable regions of the Ig locus in the B-cells by SHM. Following several rounds of proliferation the B-cells acquire surface Ig molecules, which are mutated compared to the germline sequence, and could have an enhanced affinity for the antigen (63). These so called centrocytes, migrate to the light zone of the GC, where they interacted with antigen trapped on follicular dendritic cells (FDC). Based on an increased affinity towards the antigen such B-cells receive survival signals and are enriched (64). However, recent studies using multi photon microscopy have shown that the GC reaction is even more complex than originally thought. In fact, it appears that B-cells within a given GC are highly motile and long lived interactions with FDCs are rare. Evidence that B-cells constantly migrate between the dark and light zone in both directions, as well as documentation of substantial cell proliferation in both zones have been presented (65-68). Thus, the exact sequence of events and mechanisms in the GC remains to be elucidated.

Activation induced cytidine deaminase

The antigen-independent VDJ recombination in the bone marrow generates naive B-cells with can interact with a wide variety of antigens (12, 22). Whereas, C μ is always expressed on the surface of naïve B-cells high affinity antibodies with different effector functions require that the B-cells alter their genomic composition and in this way increase their affinity for a specific antigen. This is achieved by two antigen-dependent processes; CSR and SHM (17, 18, 23, 66, 69). Both these processes are dependent on the activity of the enzyme activation induced cytidine deaminase (AID) (70-74). Originally AID was described as an RNA editing enzyme based on homology to apolipoprotein B (apoB) mRNA-editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide 1 (APOBEC-1) (72). However, accumulating data suggest that AID acts directly on single stranded DNA by deaminating deoxycytidine (dC) residues to deoxyuracils (dU), which initiates Ig CSR and SHM (75-78). The deamination occurs preferentially at dC recidues at WRC hotspots where W=A or T and R=purines, which are frequent in the switch regions of the V_H genes (79, 80). In addition, AID only targets dCs on single stranded templates which are formed during transcription, and therefore, transcription is essential to initiate Ig CSR and SHM (78, 81-85).

Class switch recombination

The different Ig isotypes have distinct and unique effector functions and they bind to different Fc receptors. For example mucosal IgA binds to the pIg receptor (pIgR) which enables transport of dimeric IgA to the mucosal lumen (86, 87). Naive B-cells express IgM, but during CSR the $V_{\rm H}$ gene is rearranged to express different isotypes. The VH locus originally contains all the different C regions lined up together with the respective promoters and switch (S) regions (Fig. 2), but initially only the Iµ promoter is actively transcribing the Cµ gene segments. However, the different promoters are activated by different cytokines and this way can transcribe the distinct S regions, located between the promoter regions and the respective $C_{\rm H}$ region, a process called germline transcription (18). The I α promoter is activated in response to TGF β which initiates germline transcription through the downstream S α and C α exons (19, 20). This germline transcription is non-productive and often referred to as a sterile transcript, facilitating



Figure 2

The figure shows the typical events during IgA CSR and the resulting producs. The top shows the Ig heavy chain locus in mouse after completed VDJ recombination. At first the I μ promoter is active and generates IgM expressing cells. With the correct stimuli (TGF β for IgA) downstream promoters become active and generate germline transctipts. During CSR double stranded breaks are induced in the switch (S) regions by an AID dependent process, which results in the generation of a switch circle by an intra chromosomal deletion of the excessive DNA. The activated I α promoter is still active but transcribes the circle now, creating a nonsense α -switch circle transcript. These transcripts can be detected by PCR and serve as excellent markers for recent IgA CSR. To the right is the newly synthesized IgA generating product.

subsequent Ig CSR (18, 88). Therefore, during germline transcription AID is recruited to the hotspots in the actively transcribed switch regions where it deaminates dC residues to dU to initiate CSR. The endogenous base excision repair mechanism repairs the introduced dU in an orderly fashion, including the activity of several important enzymes. First, uracil DNA glycosylase (UNG) removes the dU, creating an abasic site (89, 90). Second, apurinic/ apyrimidinic endonuclease (APE) generates double stranded breaks at the abasic sites in the switch regions of the donor isotype and the acceptor isotype (82, 91), and an intrachromosomal deletional event occurs, where the intervening DNA is looped out (92, 93). The donor and the acceptor S regions are joined together by DNA polymerase β (pol β) to form a new chromosomal rearrangement and the looped out DNA is degraded (18) (Fig. 2). The transcription of the newly synthesized DNA is directed through the Iµ promoter, but the Iα promoter is still active a short period of time after the CSR events occurred. Importantly, the transcription directed from the Ia promoter is now directed through the excised DNA circle creating a nonsense product that can be detected by PCR. Because these circular transcripts are retained for a short time after completed CSR, they can serve as excellent markers of ongoing and recently completed Ig CSR (94).

Affinity maturation

Somatic hypermutation (SHM)

The second major genetic alteration in antigen activated B cells is achieved by SHM, which generates high affinity antibodies against a particular antigen. During SHM point-mutations are generated in the Ig V regions, which can increase the antigen binding properties of the Ig molecules. Similar to CSR, this process is triggered by antigen, requires adequate T-cell help and occurs within GCs in the lymph nodes or spleen (69, 95). This process requires AID which initiates SHM the same way as CSR, by deaminating dC residues to dU (23). The mismatch repair mechanisms can either remove the dU, creating an abasic site, or creates a new strand using the dU as a template (89, 90, 96). If the dU is used as a template, the original dC information is lost and the newly replicated strand will contain a dT instead of the complimentary dG as the original dC residue would generate. Thus the net result for this type of replication is a mutation from a GC pair into an AT pair (85, 97). Additionally, the dU can be removed by UNG, creating an abasic site, and if replication occurs across the abasic site, error prone polymerases will insert any base to repair the damaged DNA (75, 96, 98). Thus, this pathway will generate an

unbiased array of mutations but sometimes the inserted bases will also be the same as the initial deaminated dC. Finally mutations at AT base pairs are introduced by dC to dU deamination, but instead of being excised by UNG the mismatch repair pathway enzymes MSH6/MSH2 recruits the exonuclease EXO1 which removes a stretch of bases surrounding the original mismatch (23, 69, 96, 99).

Selection

As previously mentioned AID acts on the Ig genes at specific hotspots where mutations are introduced. Some mutations will be silent whereas others will be replacement mutations which lead to amino acid changes. Depending on the mutation, the affinity for the antigen is altered, where some mutations lead to higher affinity for the antigen and others to lowered affinity (100). To ensure that only cells with mutations that render high affinity antibodies escape the GC it is thought that the newly inserted mutations are screened against trapped antigen on the FDC (101). Centrocytes with different affinity are thought to compete for the antigen trapped of the FDC and centrocytes with high affinity for the antigen will be selected for survival (64). Centrocytes with unaltered affinity, or lower affinity for the antigen, die by apoptosis and are engulfed by macrophages (62). Recent data show that FDCs are able to retain the captured antigen and interact with B-cells >1 week after immunization. This prolonged presentation assures that even rare B-cells are able to interact with antigen captured on the FDC (67). Additionally, it allows B-cells to recirculate the GC and go through several rounds of mutations and selection processes (65, 68, 102, 103). This quality control of ensures that only high affinity B-cells are selected to become plasma cells or long lived memory cells.

The gut mucosal immune system

The gut mucosa and its local immune system serves as a defence barrier against pathogenic bacteria, viruses and parasites that otherwise would gain access to the body. Simultaneously, the mucosal barrier allows uptake of food antigens and has established a symbiotic relationship between the commensal bacterial flora and the host. Of note, the large intestine can carry up to 10¹² microorganisms per ml of luminal content (104). Only a single layer of epithelial cells protects the host from the luminal content, but critical for the barrier function is also the mucus layer and above all the generation of SIgA antibodies. These are generated in response to the bacterial flora as germ free mice exhibit a dramatically reduced gut IgA level. The SIgA is produced by

plasma cells in the gut lamina propria (LP) (105-108). The production of SIgA is one of the cardinal features of the mucosal immune system. In humans, every day approximately 3g of IgA is produced, which is more than all other isotypes combined (109, 110). The production of IgA is essential in maintaining the gut homeostasis with the commensal flora and in preventing attacks by pathogenic microorganisms or harmful toxins (111). Two pathways for generating IgA antibodiers have been proposed. The first is driven by the commensal flora and is T-cell independent, while the second pathway is responsive to T-dependent antigens and initiatiated in the organized lymphoid tissue of the GALT. Both these pathways are dominated by classical B2 cells but to what extent the two pathways contribute to the overall IgA production in the gut is incompletely known. In addition, B-1 cells derived from the peritoneal cavity have been suggested to contribute to the overall IgA production in the gut against the commensal flora (2, 52, 111-115).

Despite an extensive literature on IgA formation and function we still lack a definite understanding of how and where gut IgA responses are generated (10, 116). As early as 1971, Craig and Cebra showed in rabbits that Peyer's patch (PP) B-cells preferentially underwent IgA CSR and were committed to become IgA producing plasma cells in the intestinal LP (117). Additional evidence that antigen specific IgA responses were generated in the PPs were reported by Husband and Gowans in 1978, who used ligated intestinal loops challenged with cholera toxin to demonstrate that PPs were the inductive sites for antitoxin IgA responses. They found that if the loop hosted a PP, cholera toxin specific IgA cells appeared in the draining thoracic duct, whereas no IgA response was found in loops devoid of PPs (118). Thus, it has been known for a long time that PPs are potent inductive sites for specific IgA responses. However, in recent years attention has been given to alternative sites as inductive sites, especially for IgA responses against the commensal flora. These responses have been proposed to be initiated *in situ* in the non-organized LP itself and possibly also in the peritoneal cavity (48, 49, 115, 119). However, just recently a few studies have questioned whether the LP is a site for IgA CSR against the bacterial flora (36, 38, 120).

Factors influencing IgA CSR

Several factors are involved in the generation of gut IgA antibodies. The first cytokine that was described to promote IgA CSR was TGF- β , which was tested on LPS-stimulated naïve B

cells in vitro (19). The authors showed that TGF- β induced IgA CSR in IgM B cells rather than enhanced production of IgA from already IgA-committed cells. This was also confirmed by subsequent studies, showing that TGF- β induced germline transcription through the α -switch regions by activating the I α promoter (121-123). Several sources of TGF- β have been described, such as B-cells (124), T-cells (125), antigen presenting cells (126) and stromal cells (127, 128). The relative importance of the different sources of TGF- β for IgA CSR though, has not been clearly elucidated. Additionally, IL-5 and IL-6 act synergistically with TGF- β to augment IgA responses, but are not alone sufficient to induce IgA CSR (129, 130).

In addition, two other IgA switch factors are derived from the ECs or DCs. These are termed a proliferation inducing ligand (APRIL) and B-cell activation factor of the tumor necrosis factor family (BAFF) (131-133). These factors act directly on the activated B cell independently of the presence of T cells and in this way could promote IgA responses to the commensal flora in the complete absence of an organized lymphoid tissue that supports cognate T-B cell interactions. B-cells have several receptors for both these ligands; B-cell maturation antigen (BCMA), transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI), BAFF-receptor (BAFF-R) and APRILreceptor (APRIL-R) (134-136). In a study by He, et al. it was recently shown that human B-cells can undergo CD40-independent IgA CSR when stimulated with BAFF and APRIL. Because DCs express BAFF and APRIL the authors suggested that this could be an alternative pathway for IgA CSR in the non-organized gut tissue in response to the commensal flora (137). Also, TNF α /iNOS producing DCs have been ascribed a possible role in generating IgA responses. It was recently reported that T-cell dependent IgA responses were lowered in iNOS^{-/-} mice, by impairing the expression of TGF- β receptor II. More importantly, T-cell independent responses were dramatically reduced, probably as a result of low production of BAFF and APRIL, in iNOS^{-/-} mice (138). Interestingly, iNOS production is dependent on bacterial ligands, and GF mice are deficient in iNOS-production, which could explain why these mice have few gut IgA producing plasma cells. Such a defect would affect the inductive site and IgA CSR rather than the effector site in the gut. However, whether BAFF and APRIL exert IgA CSR activity in the organized GALT or are restricted to the non-organized LP is still incompletely investigated (116, 138, 139).

The gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT)

Peyer's patches

Almost 40 years ago, the PPs were described as the main inductive sites for IgA responses and also the predominant site for IgA precursor cells (117, 118). Together with isolated lymphoid follicles (ILF), cryptopatches and MLN, the PPs constitute an important part of the GALT (140, 141). The PP's are easily detectable macroscopically as distinct nodules spread along the intestine at the antimesenteric border (142, 143). The nodules consist of one or more B-cell follicles containing mostly B2 B-cells surrounded by interfollicular T-cell regions and the sub epithelial dome (SED), which separates the follicles from the follicle associated epithelium (FAE) (144-146). Within the FAE the specialized microfold cells (M-cells) are found, which enable antigen uptake from the intestinal lumen (147, 148). Since PPs lack afferent lymphatics, this is how lymphocytes within the PP are exposed to antigen (149). Antigen, taken up by the M-cells, can be captured by B-cells, DCs and macrophages within the SED, which can present antigen to CD4⁺ T-cells (150-152). The latter cells support B cell expansion and differentiation within the follicles through cognate interactions, where CD40-CD40L binding plays a critical role. These interactions result in the formation of GC (54). Within GCs the antibody response matures through IgA CSR and SHM. Interestingly, due to the high antigenic load in the intestine the PPs constantly host GCs, which is quite exceptional as all other secondary lymphoid organs, including the spleen, do not normally exhibit GC in unimmunized individuals. These GC may not even be driven by specific antigen-recognition because it was observed in a model where the BCR was replaced by signalling through LMP2A, an Epstein-Barr virus protein, and GCs were formed in response to the intestinal microflora and completely independent of BCR-specificity (153)

Isolated lymphoid follicles

In addition to the macroscopically visible PPs, the isolated lymphoid follicles (ILF) are clusters of B-cells which are not visible to the naked eye, but can readily be detected using low power microscopy (143, 154). The developmental pattern differs between PPs and ILFs as no ILFs are visible at birth, while PPs develop during fetal life (154). Subsequently, germ free mice develop PPs but lack ILFs, which require bacterial colonization to develop (155-157). The ILFs are distributed along the antimesenteric border of the small intestine, and the number of ILFs increases from the proximal to the distal small intestine. Different strains of mice have been

found to host quite different numbers of ILFs and in C57Bl/6 mice as many as 100-300 ILFs can be found (154). Although ILFs are smaller than PPs, the organization is similar to that of the PPs. Importantly, also the ILFs have an FAE with M-cells that can sample luminal antigens.

Two different maturational stages of ILFs have been described; immature (iILFs) and mature ILFs (mILFs) (158). These range from loose clusters of B220⁺ cells in iILF to organized follicles with FDC that can support the GC formations in mILF (159). The maturation of iILFs into mILFS is dependent on TNFRI signalling, which may be triggered by e.g. luminal bacteria (143, 154, 159-161). However, the total number of ILFs appears to be rather constant and differ only in maturation stage (155). To what extent ILFs contribute to the overall production of IgA plasma cells in the LP of normal mice is unknown, but studies in PP-deficient mice have indicated that this could be quite substantial (120, 127, 159, 161, 162).

Mesenteric lymph nodes

Following antigen exposure, DCs migrate from the mucosa to the draining mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN), where they can activate T-cells (163). The MLN separate the gut intestine from the systemic tissues, and in the MLN DCs also imprint gut homing properties in activated T and B cells (164). Studies in mice lacking PPs have suggested that the MLN can be a complementing site for IgA CSR and the generation of LP-homing plasma -cells (165). Furthermore, the MLN have been found to be indispensable as a barrier for preventing bacteria from reaching systemic tissues. (166). The MLN may also function in establishing oral tolerance against fed protein antigens (167-169). Mucosal DCs loaded with antigen migrate to the MLN where regulatory T cells are induced. These T cells are responsible for dampening unwanted reactions to e.g. food antigens and are critical for the homeostasis in the gut (170, 171).

Lamina propria

The lamina propria (LP) is the diffuse non-organized effector site, where plasma blasts terminally differentiate into IgA secreting plasma cells. The plasma cells residing in the LP produce and secrete dimeric IgA, which consists of two IgA antibodies linked together by a J-chain. This complex is actively transported into the gut lumen after binding to the polymeric Ig receptors (pIgR) produced by the epithelial cells (EC) and located to the basolateral side of the cell (86). Immunohistochemical staining of the small and large intestine in adult mice show that the entire LP is filled with IgA producing plasma cells, explaining the enormous IgA production seen every day.

Homing to the lamina propria

Activated IgA-committed B cells in the GALT, migrate to the MLN and thoracic lymph duct via the blood back to the intestinal mucosa and the LP (172). The signals required for this homing process are imprinted in the B cells already at the inductive site. The system relies on the integrin $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and CCR9 or CCR10 expressed on the membrane of the B-cell (173, 174). The key attractant for the integrin in the gut is mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1), which is expressed on the endothelial cells in the gut LP (175-177). MAdCAM-1 interacts with $\alpha 4\beta 7$ to attract lymphocytes to the LP (178). Additionally CCL25 (TECK), which is expressed on crypt epithelium in the small intestine, interacts with CCR9 expressed on B-cell blasts from the PP and recruits them to the small intestinal LP (179). In the colon CCL28 (MEC) expression interacts with CCR10, to attract IgA plasmablasts to the large intestine (180, 181). The imprinting of homing receptors on the activated B cells is dependent on DCs and the production of retinoic acid (RA) derived from vitamin A (139, 172, 173).

Lamina propria as a site for IgA CSR

In recent years, the LP has not only been described as an IgA effector site, but also as the inductive site for T-cell independent IgA CSR in both the small and large intestine (115, 119). Evidence in support of this theory has been generated in both human and mice and ascribes critical roles for EC as well as DC and the production of BAFF and APRIL (115, 137, 182). EC can produce thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) and in this capacity can stimulate DCs to produce APRIL, which has been found to support IgA CSR in naïve IgM B cells *in vitro* (115, 183). TSLP production can be upregulated in response to bacterial products, such as flagellin, and hence the bacterial flora may promote IgA CSR locally in the LP itself. Because LP DCs have been shown to extend their dendrites through the tight junctions between ECs to sample luminal antigens it is conceivable that local DCs in the LP are activated to provide BAFF and APRIL for IgA CSR (184, 185). However, other studies have failed to find evidence for IgA CSR in the non-organized LP itself (36, 38, 120). Thus, there is currently an ongoing debate about whether the intestinal LP can support IgA CSR or not (37, 116). The present thesis work is focused on unravelling the requirements and sites for IgA CSR in the mouse intestine using sensitive molecular markers.

Aims of the thesis

The general aim of this thesis work was to investigate the requirements and sites for IgA CSR in the mouse intestine using sensitive molecular markers.

The specific aims were:

- To investigate the localization of IgA CSR in the CD40^{-/-} mouse model, exploring T cell independent gut IgA responses
- To unravel whether IgA CSR occurs in the non-organized intestinal LP or is restricted to the GALT
- To evaluate at what stage of differentiation activated B cells undergo CSR and SHM in relation to formation of GC in the PP.
- To determine whether the bacterial flora influences IgA CSR at the inductive sites or is critical for developing IgA plasma cell responses in the gut LP effector site.
- To develop and study a hapten-based oral immunization protocol for the molecular analysis of T-cell dependent antigen-specific IgA responses in the gut mucosa, especially taking kinetics of build-up and affinity maturation of the response into account.

Materials and methods

The details of the experimental procedures are described in detail each article. Here, I will try to describe and ratify the choice of methods and techniques that we used for this thesis work.

Mice

All mice used in the study were on a C57BL/6 background, bred and housed under SPF or germ free conditions at the experimental biomedicine (EBM) facility at the University of Gothenburg, Sweden. To better control for the bacterial microflora I choose to breed the mice for all experiments in our own facility. This ensured that the variation in the bacterial flora was minimized between different experiments and between CD40^{-/-} and WT mice, despite that we could not work with littermates. The germ free mice were acquired from two different sources; the Karolinska institute in Stockholm or from our own EBM facility at the University of Gothenburg. The results in manuscript III are the aggregated data from mice originating from both germ free units. The germ free status in both locations was carefully monitored by cultivation assays for both aerobic and anaerobic bacteria at KI and by 16S RNA PCR in Gothenburg. The PCR assay is a more reliable instrument to monitor the germ free status since many bacterial strains cannot be cultivated. In comparison our data from the two breeding units for GF mice were similar strengthening the notion that the mice were truly germ-free.

IgA detection

To identify IgA and IgA producing cells in the gut we used several different methods to get an objective measurement of the intestinal IgA production. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) using fluorescent antibodies was used throughout the studies (paper I-IV). This is an excellent tool to get an overview of the localization and the abundance of IgA in the intestine, and by using antibodies with directly conjugated fluorochromes we were able to stain the sections with different antibodies at the same time (e.g. anti-IgA-FITC and anti-IgM-Texas red). However, information about the absolute amount of IgA cannot be aquired by IHC, and therefore we also used the more quantitative ELISPOT analysis to analyze spot forming cells (SFC) from isolated LP lymphocytes. This method gives an objective measurement of the number of IgA secreting cells within the LP. The ELISPOT assay was complemented by ELISA directly determining the amount of IgA found within the gut lumen, by analyzing gut lavages. Together these methods give us an objective measurement of the total IgA levels within the intestine.

Germinal center identification

The lectin peanut agglutinin (PNA) has traditionally been widely used to identify GCs within spleen and lymph nodes (186). More recently, a monoclonal antibody GL7, which labels activated GC B-cells, was developed (187). We used the GL7 antibody in all our experiments. GL7 staining generates less background staining on sections compared to PNA, and it is also easier to use GL7 in the FACS, due to less background staining. Recently, the epitope for GL7 was identified as a sialylated glycan specifically expressed on activated B-cells in a GC (188). To further visualize GCs we identified proliferating cells within the different tissues by using the cross-reacting anti-human Ki67 antibodies, which specifically identifies proliferating cells (189). Since GC B-cells are heavily proliferating, and since Ig CSR requires proliferation (18, 77, 190), the anti-Ki67 staining detects GCs as well as cells potentially undergoing Ig CSR. Together with GL7 staining GCs can easily be detected using both FACS and IHC.

ILF free lamina propria

When analyzing the LP it is important to consider that the preparation could also host naïve and activated B-cells localized to ILFs. To ensure that the analyzed tissues were ILF free we adopted a method previously described by Stoel et al (191). Briefly, we snap froze 2-3 cm pieces of the small intestine and cryosectioned 7µm thick slices of the tissue. Every fifth section was placed on a slide and stained with anti IgA and anti IgM to visualize ILFs. The intervening sections between ILF-negative cryosections were dissolved in buffer RLT (Qiagen) for subsequent RNA isolation. If either one of the cryosections contained an ILF the adjacent sections were not analyzed but considered potential ILF tissue. Finally, if two consecutive cryosections were found to have ILFs (e.g. section 1 and 6) then the tissue was considered to represent an ILF and analyzed. This method also ensured good quality of the isolated RNA since the tissue was submerged and homogenized in buffer RLT immediately after it was sectioned, which can be a problem during laser capture microscopy.

PCR

In the first paper we used traditional reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR) to identify germline α , AID and CD79a transcripts. To get semiquantitative results and to increase the specificity of the analysis of AID transcripts we performed a Southern blot analysis on the amplified material. To correlate the expression of AID to the number of B-cells present in the sample we used

CD79a as a B-cell specific house keeping gene. CD79 forms a complex with the BCR which is expressed on all mature cells but not on plasma cells and therefore CD79 serves as a reliable house keeping gene for normalizing the number of B-cells analyzed in each sample. In paper II and III we developed quantitative qRT-PCR assays to quantify the expression of germline α and AID transcripts. To minimize pipetting errors, we developed a multiplex assay using hybridization probes in different colors. We designed CD79a primers and probes and labeled the probe with Texas red and also added a black hole quencher 2 to the 3' end of the probe. The probes used in the different assays were locked nucleic acids probes (LNA) from Roche's universal probe library which were labeled with fluorescein (FAM) and a dark quencher dye according to the company's website. The primers were designed using Roche's online services (https://www.roche-applied-science.com/sis/rtpcr/upl/index.jsp?id=UP030000) and the system suggests 2 primers and an appropriate probe to be used. This approach allowed us to get quantifiable data with high specificity. To allow comparisons between different runs, all of the reactions included a standard calibrator from a pool of PPs from several different animals. This batch of cDNA was used throughout the thesis work and given the value 1 for relative quantification. All samples were then normalized against the standard sample in each run which gave consistent quantitative data between different runs.

qPCR arrays

The low density PCR arrays were custom designed and ordered from SABiosceinces. The rationale behind the design was to include many different genes that have previously been suggested to be involved in or influence IgA CSR and B cell differentiation. However, we were limited to 12 genes due to the plate layout and one of the genes had to be a housekeeping gene, in this case, HPRT. The plates were pre-validated with the primer sets already loaded onto the plate, thus we mixed the template with a sybrgreen mastermix before loading the samples in the plate. Subsequent to the PCR reaction, we analyzed the samples using $\Delta\Delta$ CT calculations and compared the relative expression of the different genes in the indicated tissue (Paper III). This analysis provided a rapid tool to identify gene expression profiles in several tissues at the same time.

Detection of switch α -CTs by nested PCR

Switch α -CTs could not be detected by one round of RT-PCR amplification, and instead we had to use nested RT-PCR as originally described by Fagarasan et. al (94). However, we modified the original primer set since we had problems with false positive and negative samples. To increase the sensitivity and the specificity of the assay, we used one step RT-PCR for the first round, which meant that the cDNA synthesis and the first round of the RT-PCR was carried out in the same tube in consecutive steps. The one step reaction mix contained a mixture of superscript RT-polymerase and hot start taq polymerase. Hence, all the components necessary for the cDNA synthesis and the actual PCR were included in the reaction tube and RNA can therefore be used as a template directly in the reaction. This minimized the chance of contaminating the samples as we avoided a separate cDNA preparation step. In addition, the cDNA synthesis was carried out using gene specific primers included in the reaction which added specificity and sensitivity to the reaction. The second round of PCR was carried out using the product from the one step RT-PCR as a template and both PCRs ran for 30 cycles which generated pure qualitative and nonquantifiable results. To analyze the sensitivity of the reaction we cloned the amplified product into the plasmid pBSK, and measured the concentration of the plasmid. By calculating the mass of the plasmid we could calculate the number of plasmids present in the mixture at a certain concentration. We serially diluted the plasmid and ran our nested PCR assay and found that our detection limit was as few as 4 gene transcripts. We also attempted to set up a qRT-PCR for the switch α -CTs but we were unfortunately not able to establish an assay with consistent amplification of the product. This may possibly have been due to very low gene expression levels. Therefore, to get semiquantitative values on expression of switch α -CTs in CD40^{-/-} and WT mice we serially diluted the RNA prior to the nested RT-PCR. This allowed us to make relative estimates of how many transcripts that were expressed in CD40^{-/-} and WT PPs.

NP-specific sequence analysis

In manuscript IV we analyzed the induction of an NP specific response following oral immunization with NP-CT. The purpose of these experiments was to analyze the kinetics and quality of a TD-antigen response after oral immunizations by monitoring NP specific $V_H - \mu$ and $V_H - \alpha$ gene expression in various gut tissues. From previous studies it is well known that NP responses are dominated by antibodies encoded by a specific VDJ rearrangement containing the V_H gene 186-2, the D region DFL16.1 and Jh2 or Jh4 (192, 193). Many of these studies used an

upstream primer which binds to the leader intron sequence of the Vh186.2 gene but also to some other genes in the J558 family, together with a J specific downstream primer to clone NP binding antibody heavy chain gene sequences using PCR from genomic DNA (194, 195). However, as these primers do not discriminate between antibody class and are not sufficiently NP-specific to give reliable results , we designed an upstream primer that only detected V186.2 gene and a pseudogene, but not other Vh genes within the J558 family, NP leader up (5'-TCT AGA ATT CGG GAT GGA GCT GTA TCA TGC TC-3'), and class specific downstream primers that are specific for IgM; IgM down2 (5'-TTC CTC GAG AGG GAG GAG GAA GGA GGA C-3'. To estimate expression of NP binding sequences, PCR products generated using these primers were then analyzed using southern blotting with a probe (5'- CCG TAG TAA TAT CTT GCA CA-3') which hybridizes across the VD joint specific for NP binding . The fact that a strong signal correlated well with NP binding was also confirmed when individual amplification products were sequenced.

The same strategy was employed when cloning the sequences for subsequent sequencing. Here the $V_{\rm H}$ - α and $V_{\rm H}$ - μ segments were amplified by the proofreading enzyme Phusion which generates blunt end products. The products were blunt end ligated into a TOPO-10 vector (Invitrogen) and screened by blue white selection. White colonies were patched onto a new selective plate and grown over night. The patches were then lifted onto a nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were hybridized with the same NP specific CDR3 probe as described above and positive colonies were inoculated in liquid LB medium for subsequent plasmid preparations. The plasmids were sent off for sequencing, and the sequences were analyzed. Particular points addressed were, how many of the sequences that were likely to encode antibodies that bind NP, the frequency of somatic hypermutation, the clonal relationships of $V_{\rm H}$ genes, how many of the clones that had the mutation $W_{33} \rightarrow L_{33}$ (107 G>T) which increases the affinity for NP roughly x10 times (196), and if there were signs of affinity selection based on silent and non-silent mutations in the FW and CDR regions. The coamplified constant regions were used as a control for the number of mutations that were introduced during reverse transcription, PCR amplification and cloning since they should have remained unmutated. The rationale behind this approach was to analyze the early NP specific responses following oral immunization with a T-cell dependent antigen (cholera toxin), which could not be analyzed using non-molecular assays.

Results and comments

TI IgA production is unaltered in CD40^{-/-} mice

T cell-B cell cognate interaction is absent in CD40^{-/-} mice which results in failure to develop GCs. As a consequence, CD40^{-/-} mice cannot produce high affinity class switched antibodies. Therefore, they have elevated serum IgM levels because of the inability to undergo Ig CSR (197, 198). This is also seen in patients with mutations in the CD40 or CD40L gene which causes a hyper IgM syndrome where serum IgG, IgA and IgE levels are decreased, but serum IgM levels are normal or elevated (199). Based on this information we expected CD40^{-/-} mice to have decreased levels of IgA in the gut. Surprisingly, CD40^{-/-} mice produced and secreted close to WT levels of IgA in the small intestine. This production was completely GC independent since no GCs were found by IHC in the GALT or the spleen (Fig 3). The lack of GCs was also confirmed by FACS analysis showing low levels of GL7 positive cells in the PP. Thus, the lack of GCs was not reflected in the ability to generate gut IgA. Of note, these mice did not respond to oral immunizations with TD antigens e.g. KLH and cholera toxin, showing that TD IgA CSR critically depends on GC formation. However, CD40^{-/-} mice exhibit TI IgA responses which are GC and CD40 independent.



Figure 3

The image shows а comparsion between the intestine and the PP of WT and CD40^{-/-} mice. Тор panels shows а representative IgA (green) staining of the small intestine where IgM (red) cells are located in ILFs. The bottom panel shows GC stainings using GL7 (green) and B-cells stained with B220 (red).

Peyer's patches are sites for CD40 independent IgA CSR

In search for an explanation to the normal numbers of IgA plasma cells in CD40^{-/-} mice we searched for a location of TI IgA CSR by analyzing the IgA CSR molecular markers α-germline transcripts, AID transcripts and α -switch CTs (94). RT-PCR analyses showed that the transcripts were expressed in the PPs of CD40^{-/-} as well as WT mice albeit at lower levels in CD40^{-/-} mice. In WT mice almost every PP expressed α -switch CTs and the frequency of α -switch CTs in the PP of CD40^{-/-} mice were lowered by 50% compared to WT mice (Fig. 4). Since the α -switch CT assay was based on a nested PCR the results were purely qualitative and reflected only positive or negative results. Therefore we serially diluted the mRNA prior to the PCR to get semiquantitative data on the concentration of α -switch CTs in WT PP compared to CD40^{-/-} PP. Combining the two analyses, the net result shows that IgA CSR activity in CD40^{-/-} PP is roughly 25% compared to WT activity. That correlated well with the quantitative data on α-germline transcripts and AID mRNA expression which was also lowered to 25% in CD40^{-/-} mice. However, despite the lower activity, PPs were the only site where significant IgA CSR activity was observed and very low levels of IgA CSR was detected in other organized lymphoid structures of the GALT, and not in the non-organized LP of either the small intestine or large intestine.



Figure 4

The image shows an analysis switch α -CT in the PP of WT and CD40^{-/-} mice. Every dot represents the frequency of positive PPs in an individual mouse. At least 4 PP are included in each dot in the diagram. The average frequency of switch α -CT is shown by the line

No detectable IgA CSR in the lamina propria

In addition to the PP, we investigated several potential locations which have been suggested to host enriched IgA CSR (119, 162, 165, 200). First, the MLNs displayed very low IgA CSR activity in both WT and CD40^{-/-} mice and are therefore unlikely sources of TI IgA CSR. Second, the LP itself has been suggested to support IgA CSR (119), and therefore ILF free LP was analyzed for evidence of IgA CSR. However, our analysis showed that ILF negative LP never contained molecular markers of ongoing IgA CSR. Also, few IgM⁺ B-cells were found in the LP, arguing against the LP as a source of IgA CSR. Instead, IgM⁺ B-cells were restricted to the organized GALT. In paper II the colonic LP and colonic ILFs were included in the analysis since a human study had indicated that IgA CSR could occur in the colonic LP (115). In fact, random colonic biopsies (0,5-1 cm) occasionally carried α -switch CTs. However, when ILF negative biopsies was analyzed separately, we found expression of α -switch CTs confined only to the organized colonic follicles and no evidence of IgA CSR was found in the colonic follicles, the majority of the follicles (>85%) failed to exhibit molecular markers for IgA CSR.

Peritoneal cavity B-cells do not contribute to gut IgA plasma cells

Apart from the GALT, B1 cells residing in the peritoneal and pleural cavities have been ascribed an important role for gut IgA production (48). Therefore we isolated peritoneal cells and analyzed the presence of molecular markers for IgA CSR. Interestingly, peritoneal cells expressed AID mRNA, but the cells did not express α -germline transcripts or α -switch CTs. Hence, these B-cells cells show an activated phenotype but no IgA CSR appeared to occur within the peritoneal cavity itself. If these cells contributed to the gut IgA production CSR had to have occurred elsewhere. For example, the activated B-1 cells may have migrated to the intestine and completed the IgA CSR, but since no evidence of IgA CSR was found in the LP, this is unlikely. To elucidate if peritoneal cavity B-cells migrated to the gut LP we transferred peritoneal washings from GFP expressing mice into WT and CD40^{-/-} mice. 5 weeks after the transfer 20% of the peritoneal cavity cells were GFP⁺. However, very few GFP positive cells were recovered from the GALT and the small intestinal LP. 50% of the plasma cells in the small intestine are replaced after 5 weeks (Pabst, O, personal communication), but very few of these cells appeared to be recruited from the peritoneal cavity. In addition, GF mice which are colonized with a normal bacterial flora rapidly restored IgA levels in the gut (201). If B-1 cells

were recruited to the LP to generate IgA plasma cells we expected that the B-cell composition in the peritoneal cavity would be altered during colonization. However, we did not detect any differences when comparing GF, WT and GF mice being colonized (Fig. 5). Thus, we believe our data argue for that B1 cells, at best, provide a very limited contribution to the overall IgA production in the gut (50).



Figure 5

A) An analysis of the composition of B1 and B2 cells in the peritoneal cavity before and after bacterial colonization. The figure shows a FACS analysis of peritoneal cavity cells from the indicated animals. Included in the analysis is only B220⁺IgM⁺, B220⁻ IgM⁺ and B220⁺IgM⁻ cells. The B1 cells were further subgated into B1a and B1b populations. The relative frequencies of cells in the different gates are shown. The image shows one representative figure out of animals. **B)** Peritoneal cavity cells from eGFP expressing mice were isolated and transferred i.p. into WT and CD40^{-/-} recipients. 5 Weeks later the cells were isolated and analyzed by flow cytometry to visualize eGFP expressing cells in the indicated tissues. The relative frequencies of eGFP positive cells in each gate are indicated in the respective figures.

ILF frequency and distribution is unaltered in CD40^{-/-} mice

ILFs in the small intestine can be a potential source of IgA CSR (127, 161, 162). Because CD40^{-/-} mice displayed reduced IgA CSR activity in the PP we analyzed the number and distribution of ILFs in the small intestine. Surprisingly, the frequency of ILFs was similar in WT and CD40^{-/-} mice and we detected 200-300 follicles in each mouse strain with increasing numbers in the distal part of the intestine. None of the ILFs showed GC formations or proliferating cells (Ki67⁺ cells) and their relative contribution to the total IgA production in the gut appeared to be low. The comparable numbers of ILFs in CD40^{-/-} and WT mice suggested that the ILFs are unlikely to compensate for the lower IgA CSR activity (25%) in the PPs of CD40^{-/-} mice. Nevertheless, further studies are needed to critically evaluate the importance of ILFs compared to PPs to the overall TI IgA CSR in the intestine.

Plasma cell turnover is similar in WT and CD40^{-/-} mice

A possible explanation to the near normal production of gut IgA in CD40^{-/-} mice could be altered plasma cell turnover in the LP. To address this issue we pulsed mice with BRDU and followed the kinetics of BRDU positive plasma cells in the LP. The changes were similar in WT and CD40^{-/-} indicating that the plasma cell turnover was unaltered CD40^{-/-} mice. Additionally, the level of apoptosis in the LP was also similar between WT and CD40^{-/-} mice further supporting that gut plasma cell turnover were no different in CD40^{-/-} mice compared to WT mice.

GL7 intermediate cells show evidence of IgA CSR

Because of the lack of GCs in CD40^{-/-} PPs, we asked if IgA CSR could have occurred in B-cells prior to the GC stage. When analyzing GL7 expression by FACS, WT and CD40^{-/-} PP both hosted a GL7 intermediate (GL7^{int}) population, which appeared similar in the two strains. This population expressed AID as well as α -switch CTs. Interestingly, the level of AID expression did not reflect the frequency of α -switch CTs, because AID expression levels were highest in the GL7^{high} population, whereas, the α -switch CTs were most frequent in the GL7^{int} populations. Further, when the JH4 intron was analyzed for SHM, the GL7^{low} cells did not show any mutations while in contrast, the GL7^{high} population was heavily mutated. The GL7^{int} population had fewer mutations than the GL7^{high} population, suggesting that this stage preceded the GC stage. Thus, TI IgA CSR occurred in GL7^{int} cells prior to manifest GC (Fig. 6).



Figure 6

The image shows evidence of IgA CSR in GL7^{int} cells. A) A representative FACS image of the frequency of GL7 cells in WT and CD40^{-/-} mice. The numbered gate shows the sorted cells that were analyzed for presence of switch α -CT in B. B) one example of presence of switch α -CT in GL7^{int} populations. **C**) Mutational analysis of the JH4 intron in cells isolated from the indicated GL7 populations. Every dot represents one sequence and the number of mutations within each sequence is shown on the Y axis.

Clonally related IgA plasma cells are present at isolated sites in the small intestine

The lack of GC in CD40^{-/-} mice was reflected in the absence of mutations in the LP IgA plasma cells. While WT mice exhibited numerous mutations the V regions from LP IgA plasma cells, the CD40^{-/-} mice showed very few mutations (on average 0,3 mutations/V region) compared to WT (5,2 mutations/V region). Thus, to generate highly mutated IgA responses, GC formation is fundamental. Nevertheless, RNA from spatially different parts of the small intestine showed examples of clonally related sequences, as identified by identical V_H genes and CDR3 regions. While it is highly unlikely that VDJ recombination generates several identical clones that subsequently home to the LP, and independently undergo IgA CSR *in situ* in the LP, this suggests that IgA plasma cells in the gut share a common clonal origin (36-38). Thus, clonal expansion of IgA plasma cell precursors occurs prior seeding the gut with IgA producing plasma cells in organized lymphoid tissues rather than in the diffuse LP itself. Additionally, TI IgA CSR precedes the formation of GCs.

Germ free mice host few IgA plasma cells in the gut, but IgA CSR activity is intact

Germ free (GF) mice host very few IgA plasma cells in the gut (107, 112, 201). However, IgA levels are quickly restored following bacterial colonization. To get insights into early IgA CSR, we used GF mice. The rationale behind the experiments was that we assumed that bacterial colonization would rapidly induce IgA CSR. By monitoring different locations for IgA CSR it would provide us with information as to how IgA is generated in response to bacterial colonization. However, surprisingly the IgA CSR activity in PPs in GF mice was comparable to that in WT mice. The PPs in GF mice exhibited GCs and the frequency of GL7 positive cells was similar to that in WT PPs. In contrast, despite normal GC formations the intestine hosted few IgA⁺ cells, suggesting that there was a deficiency in the IgA CSR. However, the PPs expressed α germline trancripts, AID mRNA and α -switch CTs at levels comparable to WT PPs (Fig. 7). Next, we screened the PP, MLN and the small intestinal LP for a number of genes potentially affecting IgA CSR and involved in B-cell activation, survival and homing. In the PP, the only major difference between GF and WT was iNOS, which was downregulated in GF mice. It has previously been reported that iNOS^{-/-} mice have low levels of IgA producing plasma cells in the gut (138), as a consequence of downregulated BAFF and APRIL expression. However, we found unaltered expression of any of these genes in our analysis, indicating that iNOS expression did not directly correlate with lower levels of BAFF and APRIL. Hence, IgA CSR appeared not to have been affected by the germ free status of these mice, arguing that later stages of IgA plasma cell differentiation and survival could be involved.



Figure 7

Analysis of molecular markers of IgA CSR in GF mice. The analysis shows relative expression of a germline transcripts and AID mRNA analyzed by qRT-PCR. Switch α -CTs were detected by nested PCR as described in manuscript II. Every dot represents one individual PP.

Expression of gut homing receptors in GF mice

Poor expression of gut homing receptors could explain the lack of LP IgA plasma cells. Gut homing properties of the B-cells are dependent on CCR9 mRNA expression in the PP and MLN. GF mice the expression exhibited unaltered mRNA expression of CCR9 compared to WT mice, arguing against that the homing properties of B-cells were changed in GF mice. However, it has previously been shown that the MAdCAM-1 expression in the LP was lower in GF mice compared WT (202) which could result in a decreased attraction of $\alpha 4\beta 7^+$ B-cells. Thus, it is possible B-cells acquire the necessary homing properties in the organized GALT but that homing to the LP is abrogated by the lack of attraction molecules in the LP itself. These theories are currently being addressed.

Bacterial colonization of GF mice restores the number of intestinal IgA plasma cells without significantly altering IgA CSR

Gut IgA producing cells rapidly develop in GF mice after colonization with a SPF microbiota. However, the IgA CSR activity is not increased during colonization. Ina fact, there is a slight decrease in the expression of α -germline transcripts and AID transcripts in the PP and MLN compared to GF and WT mice. This decrease could reflect an influx of naïve B-cells into the GALT, which would alter the expression of the housekeeping gene in the analysis. Thus the frequency of cells expressing α -germline transcripts and AID transcripts appears lowered, but the total number of cells expressing these markers is in fact increased. However, the expression of α -switch CTs were increased in mice during colonization and reached WT levels. Furthermore, GC formation and the frequency of GL7⁺ cells is not altered subsequent to bacterial colonization.

Big changes in the mesenteric lymph nodes following bacterial colonization

The most dramatic changes during bacterial colonization were found in the MLN where most of the genes analysed were induced. This could be explained by bacterial translocation to the MLN during colonization before protective IgA levels in the intestine was restored (114, 166, 171). Additionally, bacterial colonization restored iNOS expression in the small intestine, which could be involved in the IgA homeostasis. Further studies are required to address the roles of these effects in generating IgA plasma cells in the gut.

TD IgA responses are elicited by NP-CT conjugates

Thus far our studies have focused on TI IgA responses. Next we addressed TD responses, using the mucosal antigen cholera toxin (CT) (56). Typically CT specific IgA responses are evaluated by ELISPOT and/or ELISA which gives a good end point analysis of the elicited response, but here, we explored an IgA response towards an orally administered TD antigen on a molecular level. However, it is not known which genes are involved in a CT specific IgA response, and the pattern of SHM during a CT response is not elucidated which makes it difficult to follow CT specific responses. Therefore, we conjugated the hapten (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl (NP) to CT. NP has been extensively studied and evaluated in systemic responses and the V_H genes and NP specific mutations are well characterized (192, 194, 195, 203, 204). This allowed detection of NP specific B-cells in situ, both by immunohistochemistry, and by molecular markers. Furthermore, SHM and affinity maturation of NP responses are characterized by a $W_{33} \Rightarrow L_{33}$ (107 G \Rightarrow T) replacement mutation in the V_H gene which enhances the affinity for the antigen roughly 10 times (196). Thus, selection and affinity maturation of IgA responses elicited by CT can be followed indirectly by analyzing the well known response towards NP.

The CT molecule consists of two subunits where the A subunit confers the enzymatic activity, and the five B subunits binds to the GM1 gangliosides on nucleated cells (56). Western blot analyses showed that NP bound to both subunits equally well. However, the enzymatic activity of the molecule decreased somewhat after conjugation, but the GM1 binding capacity remained intact. Additionally parenteral immunisations elicited a strong anti NP responses, showing that the immunogenicity of CT was not disrupted by NP conjugation. When orally administered, the IgA response was detected throughout the intestine by NP specific IHC. The NP specific cells were distributed similar to the IgA⁺ cells in the intestine and no localized differences were detected. Interestingly, initial data suggested that the proximal intestine contained more NP specific plasma cells than the proximal part which could be due to a local effect of the oral administration route. On the other hand, the total number of IgA⁺ cells correlated well with the observed distribution of NP specific cells, and when normalizing the number of NP⁺ cells with the number of IgA⁺ cells in different parts of the intestine, the relative frequency of NP⁺ cells were comparable throughout the intestine. Strikingly though, the frequency of NP⁺ cells in the intestine were as high as 15% after 3 oral immunizations, which highlights the plasticity and the ability of the intestine to respond to orally administered TD antigens.

High affinity clones are selected early during a TD antigen response

Molecular data showed that IgA plasma cells were efficiently generated after three oral immunizations and could be detected using molecular methods. However, the sensitivity of the assay requires further evaluation since three immunizations were needed to detect NP specific sequences whereas NP specific cells were found in the LP after one and two immunizations usig IHC. Strikingly, the PP hosted many NP specific B-cells after three immunizations, suggesting an expansion of NP specific B-cells following three oral immunizations. However, very few NP specific IgM cells are present in the PP and MLN after one and three immunizations, indicating that NP specific NP-cells are absent or rapidly undergo IgA CSR after antigen exposure. Additionally, no NP specific IgM cells were detected in the LP after one or three immunizations, indicating that the NP specific responses in the LP were exclusively IgA. By sequencing NP specific $V_{\rm H}$ genes we found that more than 50% of the NP specific sequences in the LP were affinity matured and selected for NP specificity as judged by the high affinity mutation $W_{33} \rightarrow L_{33}$ $(107 \text{ G} \rightarrow \text{T})$ after three oral immunizations. However, a single dose does not generate any NP specific IgA responses, neither in the PP, nor in the small intestinal LP. After two immunizations NP specific and affinity matured sequences were found in the PP and MLN but not in the LP. Three immunizations were needed to generate highly selected NP-specific IgA responses in the LP. Additionally, several complex clonal relationships were found in the small intestinal LP. First, the $W_{33} \rightarrow L_{33}$ (107 G \rightarrow T) mutation was usually the first shared mutation, and B-cells acquired additional mutations subsequent the characteristic high affinity NP mutation. Second, the complexity of the clonality and the fact that clonally related cells were found at spatially separated locations in the intestine showed that the cells had a common clonal origin. Third, unmutated NP specific clones were found in the LP, indicating that IgA CSR precedes SHM, and seed the LP with IgA⁺ plasma cells, much like the findings in manuscript II where TI independent IgA CSR precedes SHM in the GC. Thus, it appears that high affinity clones are selected early during a TD response and that TD IgA CSR occurs prior to entering a GC.

Discussion

IgA CSR in CD40^{-/-} mice

The data presented in this thesis addresses one of the most striking features of the gut immune system; the ability to produce and secrete SIgA. Despite an extensive literature on this subject there are still several questions to be answered as to how and where IgA is generated in the gut. We have shown that CD40^{-/-} mice are able to generate and produce near normal levels of IgA, despite the lack of visible GCs in the GALT. This finding prompted us to use sensitive molecular markers for detection of the sites of IgA CSR. Because GCs are not an absolute requirement for Ig CSR (205), we analyzed the PP in CD40^{-/-} mice for evidence of IgA CSR. In paper I, we analyzed the expression of germline α -transcripts, AID mRNA and α -switch CTs in CD40^{-/-} and WT mice using semi-quantitative RT-PCR in combination with Southern blotting. The data showed that the IgA CSR activity in CD40^{-/-} mice was reduced compared to that in WT mice. To get quantifiable data of the reduction we developed quantitative real time qRT-PCR assays for detection of germline α-transcripts and AID mRNA in paper II. However, the rare α -switch CTs were assayed with a qualitative nested RT-PCR, and thus, was not suitable for qPCR analysis. Therefore, we analyzed the α -switch CTs in serial dilutions providing a semiquatitative measure. With the combination of these assays we found that the IgA CSR activity in CD40^{-/-} PP was roughly 25% of that in WT mice.

A highly debated concept is that IgA CSR can occur in the non-organized LP *in situ*, driven by the gut bacterial flora (115, 116, 119, 137, 206). Several studies have questioned these findings (36, 38, 120), and the data in our first two papers further support that this hypothesis is unlikely. Biopsies of ILF-free LP from the colon or the small intestine consistently lacked evidence for IgA CSR. Molecular markers for IgA CSR were detected only when ILFs were present in the biopsies. Furthermore, the LP does not host a significant number of IgM⁺ cells, or proliferating (Ki-67⁺) cells, which argues against these cells as a source for IgA CSR in the LP. A likely explanation to the discrepancy between previous reports and the results in the present thesis work could be that ILFs were not removed prior to analysis in the former studies. In our study, we carefully excluded the ILFs from our LP samples, whereas Fagarasan *et al.* isolated B220⁺ IgM⁺ LP cells without considering the potential presence of ILFs (119). However, we and others have shown that ILFs are frequent and abundant in the small intestine, and that they, indeed host proliferating B220⁺ IgM⁺ B-cells which can undergo IgA CSR (143, 154, 162, 207). Therefore,

the IgA CSR detected in the LP preparations could have reflected IgA CSR in ILFs rather than IgA CSR in the non-organized LP. An alternative explanation could be the existence of species differences as the most extensive data suggesting IgA CSR in the LP is from human colon biopsies (115). We do not believe this is very likely, though, because Boursier, Spencer and Dunn-Walters have failed to find evidence for IgA CSR in non-organized LP in human intestinal tissues, and show that IgA responses are generated in the organized GALT (36-38).

ILFs are a documented source for IgA CSR in the intestine (127, 143, 154, 162). However, the relative contribution of ILF compared to PP to the overall generation of IgA plasma cells in the gut remains to be determined. Because the original site for IgA CSR under normal conditions may be different from that of gene knockouts or transgenic mice due to redundancy between pathways, misinterpretations or overstating the importance of results can easily be made. Our data show that, despite detecting molecular markers for IgA CSR in some ILFs, a majority of the follicles do not carry evidence of IgA CSR. This data suggest that the ILFs have a limited contribution to the overall gut IgA production under normal conditions in WT mice. To more conclusively address the role of PP relative to ILFs in our CD40^{-/-} mice ongoing studies using *in utero* blocking of PP-development by treatment of the pregnant mothers with LTβ-Ig-fusion proteins are underway. Hopefully, these experiments will answer to what extent PP-deficient CD40^{-/-} mice will generate IgA plasma cells in the LP, thereby exploiting the potential of ILFs as a source for TI IgA CSR.

Earlier studies have shown that SHM can occur without GC formation (208-211). To investigate this possibility in the CD40^{-/-} mice we analyzed random V_H -IgA sequences isolated from three separate parts of the small intestine for mutations. WT mice readily showed a mutated repertoire, and most of the sequences were mutated. However, the VH genes in CD40^{-/-} mice were unmutated, stressing the importance of GCs for developing SHM and high affinity Ig responses. Strikingly, we found clonally related sequences, i.e. identical CDR3 rearrangements and V_H genes, in separate parts of the small intestine, further supporting that IgA CSR is restricted to the GALT and does not occur in situ in the non-organized LP (36-38).

B1 cells from the peritoneal cavity are thought to contribute to the total IgA plasma cell numbers found in the gut LP (48). However, most studies reporting on the critical role of this axis have been performed in B-cell deficient or lethally irradiated mice, where empty niches for repopulation of B cells upon adoptive transfer have been present. Because of this fact, overinterpreting the importance of this axis is potentially possible when the results are translated into normal conditions in WT mice. In the present thesis work we observed that B-cells in the peritoneal cavity had an activated phenotype and expressed AID. However, at variance with previous studies, we were not able to detect α -switch CTs in these cells (212). This may be due to strain differences as these studies used BALB/C mice and not C57Bl/6. However, to better evaluate a possible B1-cell involvement in gut IgA plasma cell levels, we adoptively transferred GFP-expressing transgenic B-1 cells from peritoneal washings by i.p. injections into WT mice (65, 213, 214). Strikingly, we detected a substantial population of GFP-expressing B-cells (20%) only in the peritoneal cavity of the recipients and no cells were detected in the LP five weeks after transfer, suggesting that there was no traffic of B-1 cells from the peritotoneal cavity to the gut LP. As roughly 50% of the plasma cells are exchanged within a five week period (Pabst, O. Personal communication), we had expected to find significant numbers of GFP positive, B-1 derived IgA plasma cells in the intestine. Therefore, we believe that during steady state, peritoneal B-1 cells do not significantly contribute to the IgA plasma cell pool in the gut intestine. Continued studies in this transfer model may shed more light on this matter. Since we injected the cells i.p we could have restricted their potential of migrating to the gut LP in the WT mice, although, one would imagine that after antigen recognition B-1 cells would leave the peritoneal cavity. Perhaps the fact that we used transgenic B-1 cells may have lowered the probability of antigen activation in the peritoneal cavity and, thus, could explain why cells did not appear in the gut LP.

My work has clearly demonstrated that the PPs are the only sites which host substantial IgA CSR in CD40^{-/-} mice. In fact, despite a lower IgA CSR activity in the PP compared to WT it was sufficient to generate close to normal levels of IgA plasma cells. The PPs hosted a relatively intact GL7^{int} population which underwent IgA CSR. We analyzed the frequency of mutations in this population in both CD40^{-/-} and WT mice, and found dramatically fewer mutations in the GL7^{int} population compared to the GL7^{high} population, indicating that IgA CSR preceded SHM prior to the formation of GC. As most of the sequences of IgA plasma cells in the LP of

CD40^{-/-} mice were unmutated and these mice did not have GC we suggest that SHM follows on after IgA CSR and requires an established GC. However, in WT mice gut LP IgA plasma cells were mostly heavily mutated, suggesting that PP GL7^{int} cells also enter into GCs, and undergo SHM. We have to assume that in WT mice the GL7^{int} PP B cell population includes both the TI and TD IgA CSR pathways, arguing that in WT mice IgA plasma cells responding to the bacterial flora also acquire SHM prior to seeding the gut. How and why TI-antigen specific PP B cells undergo SHM in normal mice is unclear. Further studies should address this matter, but we can conclude that in CD40^{-/-} mice these B cells undergo IgA CSR as GL7^{int} cells but few cells undergo SHM, probably because of the lack of GC.

IgA CSR in germ free mice

In GF mice, very few IgA plasma cells are found in the gut LP (107, 112). The reduction of IgA producing LP cells in GF mice is roughly 90%, which is supported by results from both ELISPOT and ELISA using isolated mononuclear cells and gut lavage, respectively. This dramatic reduction is perhaps best appreciated in IHC microscopic sections labelled for IgA, where the difference between conventional and GF mice is apparent. Based on this information we hypothesized that the commensal flora played a critical role in WT mice to promote IgA CSR activity in the GALT. Thus, we expected to find reduced IgA CSR activity these mice. However, to our surprise the PPs demonstrated near normal IgA CSR activity and also displayed clear and frequent GCs. We concluded that the PP-inductive site appeared normal with regard to IgA CSR and GC formations. This suggested that GC do not require the presence of the microbiota to develop, and that other luminal antigens appeared to be sufficient for GC formation. Whether TLR-signalling is critical for GC formation cannot be answered at this time, but it is probable that the food pellets may have contained e.g. LPS or bacterial flaggellin, or other TLR-ligands (215). It is possible that IgA CSR in the PP and gut LP IgA plasma cell levels reflect largely responses to TD-antigens. To experimentally address whether TD-antigen responses are intact and the IgA CSR activity in the PP is adequate in GF mice we will orally immunize mice with NP-CT and compare the PP IgA CSR activity and the generation of gut LP IgA anti-NP cells with that stimulated in WT mice. We hope that these experiments will give additional information whether GF mice mice have a defect in their effector site in the LP rather than a defect in the inductive site for IgA CSR. We therefore, speculate that the GF status is primarily affecting the ability of IgA plasma cells to home to and/or survive in the gut LP, rather than a defect in the IgA CSR avtivity in the PP-inductive site.

Because IgA CSR activity was not altered in the PP of GF mice compared to that observed in conventional mice we undertook a screening of different genes influencing IgA CSR in the PP. We found that iNOS gene expression was downregulated in the PP of GF mice compared to PP in conventional mice.. Although iNOS deficient mice have reduced levels of BAFF and APRIL, that directly could have affected IgA CSR activity in the PP, we were unable to demonstrate a reduction in BAFF and APRIL gene expression in GF mice (138, 139). Therefore, we concluded that except for iNOS gene expression other genes influencing IgA CSR were normally expressed in GF PP and we believe PPs were fully functional to support IgA CSR. As conventional and GF mice do not exhibit a differential IgA CSR activity we did not expect to find much different IgA CSR activity after colonizing the GF mice with an SPF-flora. In agreement with this notion this was also the case for the PP, whereas the genes influencing IgA CSR were dramatically increased in MLN. However, a corresponding alteration in molecular markers for IgA CSR did not accompany the increase in expression of BAFF, APRIL and other genes. Thel ack of gut anti-bacterial IgA in the GF mice had probably resulted in an increased translocation of intestinal bacteria to the MLN and caused the increased gene expression (114, 163, 171). The IgA CSR in the MLN remained low in GF and newly colonized mice, at a level comparable to that seen in conventionally raised mice, supporting the theory that MLN is a poor site for IgA CSR, but critical as a barrier for preventing bacteria from getting access to systemic tissues (166).

Knowing that the induction of IgA was unaltered we speculated that homing to the LP was defective in these mice. Previous studies have suggested a link between iNOS expressing DCs and the presence of retinoic acid which is capable of imprinting homing properties on IgA committed B-cells (138, 139, 172, 173, 216). Homing to the small intestinal mucosa depends on the expression of CCR9 and $\alpha 4\beta 7$ on B-cells, and the corresponding CCL25 and MAdCAM-1 expression in the crypt epithelium in the mucosa (173, 182, 217). Hence, two scenarios were possible; the first possibility was that the imprinting of the B-cells in the GALT was deficient. This scenario would have generated B-cells with lower levels of CCR9, and/or $\alpha 4\beta 7$, unable to home to the gut mucosa. The second possibility was that the ability of the LP in GF mice to recruit or maintain IgA plasma cells over time was decreased compared to what pertains in conventional mice. A decreased expression of MAdCAM-1 and/or CCL25 in the gut LP would fail to recruit the activated B cells. Moreover, a lack of factors released in response

to the microbiota that influence the terminal differentiation of IgA plasma cells or survival time, such as the effect of BAFF/APRIL in other tissues could explain the low numbers of IgA plasma cells. First, we analyzed PP and MLN B cells for reduction in CCR9 expression in GF mice, but found normal expression levels of CCR9 compared to those observed in conventional mice. Further analysis of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ as well as assessment of actual homing ability to the gut LP in adoptively transferred MLN and PP B cells will follow. A previous study reported that GF mice can have a decreased expression of MAdCAM-1 in the LP, which could lead to a deficiency in the ability to recruit $\alpha 4\beta 7^+$ B cells to the gut LP in GF mice (202). This would, in fact, reconcile the findings of lack of IgA⁺ plasma cells in the LP with an intact IgA CSR in the PP in GF mice. Finally, we found several genes influencing IgA plasma cell differentiation and recruitment being poorly expressed in GF LP. Although, BAFF and APRIL gene expression levels were the least reduced in the small intestine other genes encoding critical factors, such as the IL-5 and IL-6 genes, may be responsible for the low level of IgA lasma cell levels in the GF LP. Ongoing studies will dissect these possibilities.

NP-specific T-cell dependent responses

In the first part of my thesis work I focused on TI IgA B-cell responses in the gut mucosa, driven by the bacterial microflora. The second part of the thesis is devoted to TD IgA B-cell responses in the gut LP following oral immunizations. We employed the well charcterized hapten, NP, for these studies as much information already exists as to which genes are involved in antibody binding and which mutations lead to to affinity maturation of the NP-specific response (192, 194-196, 203, 204, 218). We also took advantage of the much studied oral immunogen, CT, for effective stimulation of mucosal IgA immunity after oral administration of of antigen (56). The hapten NP was conjugated to CT, which enabled characterization of TD IgA B cell responses at the molecular level and detection of NP-specific plasma cells, by immunohistochemistry. Since no previous research has attempted to follow the build-up of an antigen-specific IgA response after oral immunizations using sensitive molecular markers we expected to get new insights into the kinetics of the induction of IgA responses in the different parts of the GALT and gut LP as well as understand if these responses underwent SHM and selection. We found that NP-specific plasma cells were readily detected already after a single oral dose, but the number of specific IgA anti-NP plasma cells increased dramatically with increased number of immunizations. The microanatomical distribution of NP-specific IgA plasma cells in the villi

was similar to the overall distribution of IgA plasma cells in the different parts of the small intestine and we observed a frequency around 10-15% of the total IgA plasma cells specific for NP in all parts of the small intestine. Thus, we observed no local variation of NP-plasma cells in the proximal or distal segements of gut LP, arguing that these cells had a common origin prior to homing to the gut LP. The proximal small intestine harboured most NP-specific plasma cells, but here also total IgA plasma cell levels were the highest, rendering a frequency of 10-15% NP-specific plasma cells. In fact, there may be a technical explanation to the relative difference in the distribution of total IgA SFC in the proximal and distal parts of the intestine, simply that much higher numbers of ILFs are present in the distal compared to the proximal small intestine (207). Thus, when isolating LP lymphocytes, the contribution of naïve B-cells would be greater in the distal part prior to the ELISPOT analysis, thus generating less spots in the analysis. Interestingly, as many as 10-15% of the IgA plasma cells in the gut were antigen specific following three oral immunizations with NP-CT, demonstrating the efficiency and the plasticity of gut mucosal IgA protective immunity.

We next used Ig $V_{\rm H}$ gene expression for assessing the presence of NP specific IgA and IgM cells in the LP of the small intestine and the colon, and in the PP and MLN after one and three immunizations. Three oral immunizations generated strong NP-specific IgA responses in the small intestine and in the colon. NP-specific B-cell responses were also observed in the PPs and MLN although the activity was dramatically weaker than in LP of the small intestine or colon. Of note though, because of a technical problem in discriminating PP from the surrounding LP the PP preparations could have contained contaminating mRNA from the small intestine. Thus, at present we cannot rule out that mRNA from plasma cells from the LP of the small intestine contaminated the PP preparations. Therefore, the IgM specific responses would be more conclusive, because there are very few IgM B-cells in the LP that could have contaminated the PP preparations. In addition, analysis of IgM specific $V_{\rm H}$ gene usage would provide information on whether more NP specific IgM responses were generated over time and if the kinetics in the GALT was different from that of the LP. As expected we found that IgM NP mRNA expression was in general weaker than IgA NP mRNA responses. The PPs generated the strongest IgM NP-specific mRNA expression of the different tissues. Only very weak NP specific IgM V_{H} gene expression was observed in the LP of the small intestine or the colon. Importantly, NP specific IgM VH gene expression was only marginally increased after three oral immunizations. Possibly, this reflects that we detected naïve NP specific IgM⁺ cells before they were activated, and when activated most NP-binding B cells undergo IgA CSR.

By analyzing mutations in the $V_{\rm H}$ genes from IgA or IgM cells, we found that the IgA response in the LP was highly mutated and also selected for high affinity NP binding after three immunizations. Based on identical CDR3 regions we could also establish the existence of clonally related sequences throughout the small intestine, suggesting that TD responses originated from a common source in the GALT. Additionally, the NP specific mutation was found in early appearing clones in the lineage tree analysis, which suggested that the mutations were introduced early during SHM and subsequently selected for their higher affinity. It may be that additional mutations could be generated by recirculation of the NP-specific B cells within the GC between the dark and light zone to generate more mutations, as been reported (65, 68, 102). At present we do not know whether these additional mutations are selected and render in even higher antigen affinity and bigger databases are required to detect such additional selection patterns. Importantly, we found that, one immunization did not generate affinity matured responses in the PP, MLN or the gut LP, whereas two oral immunizations resulted in many selected IgA VH genes both in the PP and MLN. Interestingly, at this time point strong NP specific IgA VH-chain gene expression/responses could be found in the small intestine but none of these sequences were mutated to exhibit the high affinity maturation towards NP. Three oral immunizations were needed for this to occur in the gut LP. These findings may suggest that TD IgA CSR can occur prior to SHM in a PP GC, much like TI IgA CSR in PP of CD40^{-/-} mice. Future studies will investigate these findings in more detail. At the moment we can conclude that TD IgA B cell responses, as reflected in anti-NP-CT responses, following oral immunizations, are induced in the GALT and primarily in the PP, prior to seeding the effector site in the small and large intestine.

Conclusion

In this thesis we have provided evidence that TI IgA CSR occurs exclusively in the GALT prior to SHM in GCs. IgA CSR activity was never found in the non-organized LP, and peritoneal cavity B-cells do not significantly contribute to LP IgA plasma cells. Additionally, we show that the induction of IgA CSR is intact in GF mice, but subsequent IgA plasma cell development appears to be impaired, resulting in 90% reduction in gut IgA plasma cells in the small and large intestine. Finally we show that TD IgA responses are efficiently generated in the GALT and that the responses early on undergo mutational selection events that result in high affinity IgA plasma cells seeding the gut LP.

Acknowledgements

Without the help and support from several people, this thesis work would never have been completed, and I would like to take the opportunity to thank a number of people.

First of all I would like to thank **Nils Lycke**, my main supervisor, for taking me on as a PhD student back in 2004. During the years you have taught me the difference between apples, bananas and oranges and that they are not comparable. I am also very grateful for the full support and trust you have put into me during this journey. This will be a time to remember.

Mats Bemark, my co-supervisor and the one who actually made me apply for the position in Gothenburg in the first place. Your endless energy in the lab and your technical interest has inspired me in my work and given me the opportunity to develop and use state of the art methods.

Anneli Stensson, without your never ending energy, patience and organization in the lab, and your expert technical skills this thesis would never been completed. I will never stop being impressed by your enthusiasm, and I will never forget what your efforts have meant for me and my thesis. Not too many people have managed to become a cover girl either...

Karin Schön, I am grateful that you took such good care of me when I first started here, and for teaching me about animal handling at EBM and everyday practical things that are necessary to know to get around in the lab. I would also like to thank you for keeping my pace when we have been running in the forest...

Lena Ekman, you are always good source of information about almost anything in the lab, and I don't know how things in the lab would work without you.

Johan Mattsson, my roommate the last couple of years. You have been a great roommate and a good friend over the years and these five years have sure been a lot more fun having you around in the lab. But all good things come to an end and now it's time for a divorce, but hopefully we will be able to share a tasty beer on the rooftop again and I hope we will stay in touch in the future, at least through Spotify, if nothing else.

Martin Berglund, even though we came off on the wrong foot with Gyllene tider I have to say that we have climbed that obstacle and evolved beyond that to become good friends. Even though we still don't share the same taste in music....[©]

Maria Sapnara we started off in opposite sides of the corridor, and then opposite sides of the world but eventually became close friends anyway. Thanks for always being around to have a beer or two, and for always making new friends with everyone around the lab, including me.

Ellen Marks, my fellow PhD student. Alhough we never shared writing rooms we shared bedroom in Boston, which is a conference I will never forget, for several reasons...

Linda, Dubi, Ulrika, Anna. Thank you for always being around whenever whatever trouble arises around the lab and for great company in around the lab.

Britt-Marie, Viola and Susanne who always made sure that supplies never ran out, and never complained when I need something autoclaved the last minute. The department wouldn't work without you.

Andrea, for making sure that all my papers are in order, that I get paid every month, and generally for always giving a helping hand no matter what the problem might be or how much you have to do

The People at **EBM**, Pia, Anders, Anders, Jenny, Gabriella, Aina, who have had great patience and has taken good care of me as well as the animals.

All the exjobbare that over the years contributed to a fun atmosphere in the lab

All the people at the department of microbiology and immunology, and in MIVAC for making it such a great environment to work in.

My old university friends, **Toffe, Micke, Jeppe, Olsson and Johan**. Although we ended up doing a PhD in different cities we have managed to keep in touch and share the joy and agony over the years and now there is only one person left to graduate. Who would have thought that back in 1998?

My family, although you don't really understand what I am working with you still believe in me.

The mice that sacrificed their lives to make this thesis work happen.

Finally, and most important, **Karin**. Without your endless love and support I never would have made it to the end. Words can not express what you mean to me. I love you!

References

- 1. Fagarasan, S., and T. Honjo. 2003. Intestinal IgA synthesis: regulation of front-line body defences. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3:63-72.
- 2. Cerutti, A., and M. Rescigno. 2008. The biology of intestinal immunoglobulin A responses. *Immunity* 28:740-750.
- 3. Brandtzaeg, P., and F. E. Johansen. 2005. Mucosal B cells: phenotypic characteristics, transcriptional regulation, and homing properties. *Immunol Rev* 206:32-63.
- 4. Sanderson, I. R., and W. A. Walker. 2007. TLRs in the Gut I. The role of TLRs/Nods in intestinal development and homeostasis. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 292:G6-10.
- 5. Hardy, R. R., and K. Hayakawa. 2001. B cell development pathways. *Annu Rev Immunol* 19:595-621.
- 6. Strober, W., S. Fagarasan, and N. Lycke. 2005. IgA B cell development. In *Mucosal immunology*, 3rd ed. J. Mestecky, M. E. Lamm, W. Strober, J. Bienenstock, J. R. McGhee, and L. Mayer, eds. Academic Press, Boston. S. 583-616.
- 7. Mason, K. L., G. B. Huffnagle, M. C. Noverr, and J. Y. Kao. 2008. Overview of Gut Immunology. In *GI Microbiota and Regulation of the Immune System*. 1-14.
- 8. Wold, A. E., J. Mestecky, M. Tomana, A. Kobata, H. Ohbayashi, T. Endo, and C. S. Eden. 1990. Secretory immunoglobulin A carries oligosaccharide receptors for Escherichia coli type 1 fimbrial lectin. *Infect Immun* 58:3073-3077.
- 9. Lycke, N., L. Eriksen, and J. Holmgren. 1987. Protection against cholera toxin after oral immunization is thymus-dependent and associated with intestinal production of neutralizing IgA antitoxin. *Scand J Immunol* 25:413-419.
- 10. Macpherson, A. J., K. D. McCoy, F. E. Johansen, and P. Brandtzaeg. 2008. The immune geography of IgA induction and function. *Mucosal Immunol* 1:11-22.
- 11. Woof, J. M., and D. R. Burton. 2004. Human antibody-Fc receptor interactions illuminated by crystal structures. *Nat Rev Immunol* 4:89-99.
- 12. Tonegawa, S. 1983. Somatic generation of antibody diversity. *Nature* 302:575-581.
- 13. Sakano, H., R. Maki, Y. Kurosawa, W. Roeder, and S. Tonegawa. 1980. Two types of somatic recombination are necessary for the generation of complete immunoglobulin heavy-chain genes. *Nature* 286:676-683.
- 14. Jung, D., C. Giallourakis, R. Mostoslavsky, and F. W. Alt. 2006. Mechanism and Control of V(D)J Recombination at the Immunoglobulin Heavy Chain Locus. *Annu Rev Immunol* 24:541-570.
- 15. Shimizu, A., N. Takahashi, Y. Yaoita, and T. Honjo. 1982. Organization of the constantregion gene family of the mouse immunoglobulin heavy chain. *Cell* 28:499-506.
- 16. Morgado, M. G., P. Cam, C. Gris-Liebe, P. A. Cazenave, and E. Jouvin-Marche. 1989. Further evidence that BALB/c and C57BL/6 gamma 2a genes originate from two distinct isotypes. *EMBO J* 8:3245-3251.
- 17. Maizels, N. 2005. Immunoglobulin gene diversification. *Annu Rev Genet* 39:23-46.
- 18. Stavnezer, J., J. E. Guikema, and C. E. Schrader. 2008. Mechanism and regulation of class switch recombination. *Annu Rev Immunol* 26:261-292.
- 19. Coffman, R. L., D. A. Lebman, and B. Shrader. 1989. Transforming growth factor beta specifically enhances IgA production by lipopolysaccharide-stimulated murine B lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 170:1039-1044.
- 20. Sonoda, E., R. Matsumoto, Y. Hitoshi, T. Ishii, M. Sugimoto, S. Araki, A. Tominaga, N. Yamaguchi, and K. Takatsu. 1989. Transforming growth factor beta induces IgA production and acts additively with interleukin 5 for IgA production. *J Exp Med* 170:1415-1420.

- 21. Sanchez, P., D. Rueff-Juy, P. Boudinot, S. Hachemi-Rachedi, and P. A. Cazenave. 1996. The lambda B cell repertoire of kappa-deficient mice. *Int Rev Immunol* 13:357-368.
- 22. Bassing, C. H., W. Swat, and F. W. Alt. 2002. The mechanism and regulation of chromosomal V(D)J recombination. *Cell* 109 Suppl:S45-55.
- Peled, J. U., F. L. Kuang, M. D. Iglesias-Ussel, S. Roa, S. L. Kalis, M. F. Goodman, and M. D. Scharff. 2008. The biochemistry of somatic hypermutation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 26:481-511.
- 24. Chothia, C., and A. M. Lesk. 1987. Canonical structures for the hypervariable regions of immunoglobulins. *J Mol Biol* 196:901-917.
- 25. Jolly, C. J., S. D. Wagner, C. Rada, N. Klix, C. Milstein, and M. S. Neuberger. 1996. The targeting of somatic hypermutation. *Semin Immunol* 8:159-168.
- 26. LeBien, T. W., and T. F. Tedder. 2008. B lymphocytes: how they develop and function. *Blood* 112:1570-1580.
- 27. Schatz, D. G., M. A. Oettinger, and D. Baltimore. 1989. The V(D)J recombination activating gene, RAG-1. *Cell* 59:1035-1048.
- 28. Johnston, C. M., A. L. Wood, D. J. Bolland, and A. E. Corcoran. 2006. Complete sequence assembly and characterization of the C57BL/6 mouse Ig heavy chain V region. *J Immunol* 176:4221-4234.
- 29. Solin, M. L., and M. Kaartinen. 1992. Allelic polymorphism of mouse Igh-J locus, which encodes immunoglobulin heavy chain joining (JH) segments. *Immunogenetics* 36:306-313.
- McBlane, J. F., D. C. van Gent, D. A. Ramsden, C. Romeo, C. A. Cuomo, M. Gellert, and M. A. Oettinger. 1995. Cleavage at a V(D)J recombination signal requires only RAG1 and RAG2 proteins and occurs in two steps. *Cell* 83:387-395.
- 31. Oettinger, M. A., D. G. Schatz, C. Gorka, and D. Baltimore. 1990. RAG-1 and RAG-2, adjacent genes that synergistically activate V(D)J recombination. *Science* 248:1517-1523.
- 32. Ma, Y., U. Pannicke, K. Schwarz, and M. R. Lieber. 2002. Hairpin opening and overhang processing by an Artemis/DNA-dependent protein kinase complex in nonhomologous end joining and V(D)J recombination. *Cell* 108:781-794.
- 33. Lafaille, J. J., A. DeCloux, M. Bonneville, Y. Takagaki, and S. Tonegawa. 1989. Junctional sequences of T cell receptor gamma delta genes: implications for gamma delta T cell lineages and for a novel intermediate of V-(D)-J joining. *Cell* 59:859-870.
- 34. Lewis, S. M. 1994. P nucleotides, hairpin DNA and V(D)J joining: making the connection. *Semin Immunol* 6:131-141.
- Desiderio, S. V., G. D. Yancopoulos, M. Paskind, E. Thomas, M. A. Boss, N. Landau,
 F. W. Alt, and D. Baltimore. 1984. Insertion of N regions into heavy-chain genes is correlated with expression of terminal deoxytransferase in B cells. *Nature* 311:752-755.
- 36. Boursier, L., J. N. Gordon, S. Thiagamoorthy, J. D. Edgeworth, and J. Spencer. 2005. Human intestinal IgA response is generated in the organized gut-associated lymphoid tissue but not in the lamina propria. *Gastroenterology* 128:1879-1889.
- 37. Spencer, J., F. Barone, and D. Dunn-Walters. 2009. Generation of Immunoglobulin diversity in human gut-associated lymphoid tissue. *Semin Immunol* 21:139-146.
- 38. Dunn-Walters, D. K., P. G. Isaacson, and J. Spencer. 1997. Sequence analysis of human IgVH genes indicates that ileal lamina propria plasma cells are derived from Peyer's patches. *Eur J Immunol* 27:463-467.
- Melchers, F., A. Rolink, U. Grawunder, T. H. Winkler, H. Karasuyama, P. Ghia, and J. Andersson. 1995. Positive and negative selection events during B lymphopoiesis. *Curr Opin Immunol* 7:214-227.

- 40. Carsetti, R., G. Kohler, and M. C. Lamers. 1995. Transitional B cells are the target of negative selection in the B cell compartment. *J Exp Med* 181:2129-2140.
- 41. Norvell, A., L. Mandik, and J. G. Monroe. 1995. Engagement of the antigen-receptor on immature murine B lymphocytes results in death by apoptosis. *J Immunol* 154:4404-4413.
- 42. Nemazee, D. 2006. Receptor editing in lymphocyte development and central tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* 6:728-740.
- 43. Monroe, J. G., and K. Dorshkind. 2007. Fate decisions regulating bone marrow and peripheral B lymphocyte development. *Adv Immunol* 95:1-50.
- 44. Allman, D., and S. Pillai. 2008. Peripheral B cell subsets. *Curr Opin Immunol* 20:149-157.
- 45. Elgueta, R., M. J. Benson, V. C. de Vries, A. Wasiuk, Y. Guo, and R. J. Noelle. 2009. Molecular mechanism and function of CD40/CD40L engagement in the immune system. *Immunol Rev* 229:152-172.
- 46. Hayakawa, K., and R. R. Hardy. 2000. Development and function of B-1 cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* 12:346-353.
- 47. Fagarasan, S., N. Watanabe, and T. Honjo. 2000. Generation, expansion, migration and activation of mouse B1 cells. *Immunol Rev* 176:205-215.
- 48. Kroese, F. G., E. C. Butcher, A. M. Stall, P. A. Lalor, S. Adams, and L. A. Herzenberg. 1989. Many of the IgA producing plasma cells in murine gut are derived from self-replenishing precursors in the peritoneal cavity. *Int Immunol* 1:75-84.
- 49. Kroese, F. G., E. C. Butcher, A. M. Stall, and L. A. Herzenberg. 1989. A major peritoneal reservoir of precursors for intestinal IgA plasma cells. *Immunol Invest* 18:47-58.
- 50. Thurnheer, M. C., A. W. Zuercher, J. J. Cebra, and N. A. Bos. 2003. B1 Cells Contribute to Serum IgM, But Not to Intestinal IgA, Production in Gnotobiotic Ig Allotype Chimeric Mice. *J Immunol* 170:4564-4571.
- 51. Alugupalli, K. R., J. M. Leong, R. T. Woodland, M. Muramatsu, T. Honjo, and R. M. Gerstein. 2004. B1b lymphocytes confer T cell-independent long-lasting immunity. *Immunity* 21:379-390.
- 52. Kroese, F. G., and N. A. Bos. 1999. Peritoneal B-1 cells switch in vivo to IgA and these IgA antibodies can bind to bacteria of the normal intestinal microflora. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 246:343-349; discussion 350.
- 53. Batista, F. D., and N. E. Harwood. 2009. The who, how and where of antigen presentation to B cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9:15-27.
- 54. van Kooten, C., and J. Banchereau. 2000. CD40-CD40 ligand. J Leukoc Biol 67:2-17.
- 55. Hornquist, E., and N. Lycke. 1993. Cholera toxin adjuvant greatly promotes antigen priming of T cells. *Eur J Immunol* 23:2136-2143.
- 56. Lycke, N. 1997. The mechanism of cholera toxin adjuvanticity. *Res Immunol* 148:504-520.
- 57. Lycke, N. 2005. From toxin to adjuvant: basic mechanisms for the control of mucosal IgA immunity and tolerance. *Immunol Lett* 97:193-198.
- 58. Mond, J. J., A. Lees, and C. M. Snapper. 1995. T cell-independent antigens type 2. *Annu Rev Immunol* 13:655-692.
- 59. Vos, Q., A. Lees, Z. Q. Wu, C. M. Snapper, and J. J. Mond. 2000. B-cell activation by T-cell-independent type 2 antigens as an integral part of the humoral immune response to pathogenic microorganisms. *Immunol Rev* 176:154-170.
- 60. Garside, P., E. Ingulli, R. R. Merica, J. G. Johnson, R. J. Noelle, and M. K. Jenkins. 1998. Visualization of specific B and T lymphocyte interactions in the lymph node. *Science* 281:96-99.

- 61. Okada, T., M. J. Miller, I. Parker, M. F. Krummel, M. Neighbors, S. B. Hartley, A. O'Garra, M. D. Cahalan, and J. G. Cyster. 2005. Antigen-engaged B cells undergo chemotaxis toward the T zone and form motile conjugates with helper T cells. *PLoS Biol* 3:e150.
- 62. Manser, T. 2004. Textbook germinal centers? *J Immunol* 172:3369-3375.
- 63. Tarlinton, D. M. 2008. Evolution in miniature: selection, survival and distribution of antigen reactive cells in the germinal centre. *Immunol Cell Biol* 86:133-138.
- 64. Allen, C. D., and J. G. Cyster. 2008. Follicular dendritic cell networks of primary follicles and germinal centers: phenotype and function. *Semin Immunol* 20:14-25.
- 65. Schwickert, T. A., R. L. Lindquist, G. Shakhar, G. Livshits, D. Skokos, M. H. Kosco-Vilbois, M. L. Dustin, and M. C. Nussenzweig. 2007. In vivo imaging of germinal centres reveals a dynamic open structure. *Nature*.
- 66. Allen, C. D., T. Okada, and J. G. Cyster. 2007. Germinal-center organization and cellular dynamics. *Immunity* 27:190-202.
- 67. Suzuki, K., I. Grigorova, T. G. Phan, L. M. Kelly, and J. G. Cyster. 2009. Visualizing B cell capture of cognate antigen from follicular dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 206:1485-1493.
- 68. Allen, C. D., T. Okada, H. L. Tang, and J. G. Cyster. 2007. Imaging of germinal center selection events during affinity maturation. *Science* 315:528-531.
- 69. Teng, G., and F. N. Papavasiliou. 2007. Immunoglobulin somatic hypermutation. *Annu Rev Genet* 41:107-120.
- 70. Okazaki, I., K. Yoshikawa, K. Kinoshita, M. Muramatsu, H. Nagaoka, and T. Honjo. 2003. Activation-induced cytidine deaminase links class switch recombination and somatic hypermutation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 987:1-8.
- 71. Muramatsu, M., K. Kinoshita, S. Fagarasan, S. Yamada, Y. Shinkai, and T. Honjo. 2000. Class switch recombination and hypermutation require activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), a potential RNA editing enzyme. *Cell* 102:553-563.
- 72. Muramatsu, M., V. S. Sankaranand, S. Anant, M. Sugai, K. Kinoshita, N. O. Davidson, and T. Honjo. 1999. Specific expression of activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), a novel member of the RNA-editing deaminase family in germinal center B cells. *J Biol Chem* 274:18470-18476.
- 73. Honjo, T., H. Nagaoka, R. Shinkura, and M. Muramatsu. 2005. AID to overcome the limitations of genomic information. *Nat Immunol* 6:655-661.
- 74. de Yebenes, V. G., and A. R. Ramiro. 2006. Activation-induced deaminase: light and dark sides. *Trends Mol Med* 12:432-439.
- 75. Petersen-Mahrt, S. K., R. S. Harris, and M. S. Neuberger. 2002. AID mutates E. coli suggesting a DNA deamination mechanism for antibody diversification. *Nature* 418:99-103.
- 76. Bransteitter, R., P. Pham, M. D. Scharff, and M. F. Goodman. 2003. Activation-induced cytidine deaminase deaminates deoxycytidine on single-stranded DNA but requires the action of RNase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100:4102-4107.
- 77. Dickerson, S. K., E. Market, E. Besmer, and F. N. Papavasiliou. 2003. AID mediates hypermutation by deaminating single stranded DNA. *J Exp Med* 197:1291-1296.
- 78. Chaudhuri, J., M. Tian, C. Khuong, K. Chua, E. Pinaud, and F. W. Alt. 2003. Transcription-targeted DNA deamination by the AID antibody diversification enzyme. *Nature* 422:726-730.
- 79. Pham, P., R. Bransteitter, J. Petruska, and M. F. Goodman. 2003. Processive AID-catalysed cytosine deamination on single-stranded DNA simulates somatic hypermutation. *Nature* 424:103-107.

- 80. Xue, K., C. Rada, and M. S. Neuberger. 2006. The in vivo pattern of AID targeting to immunoglobulin switch regions deduced from mutation spectra in msh2-/- ung-/- mice. *J Exp Med* 203:2085-2094.
- 81. Manis, J. P., M. Tian, and F. W. Alt. 2002. Mechanism and control of class-switch recombination. *Trends Immunol* 23:31-39.
- 82. Chaudhuri, J., and F. W. Alt. 2004. Class-switch recombination: interplay of transcription, DNA deamination and DNA repair. *Nat Rev Immunol* 4:541-552.
- 83. Larson, E. D., and N. Maizels. 2004. Transcription-coupled mutagenesis by the DNA deaminase AID. *Genome Biol* 5:211.
- Shen, H. M., M. G. Poirier, M. J. Allen, J. North, R. Lal, J. Widom, and U. Storb. 2009. The activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) efficiently targets DNA in nucleosomes but only during transcription. *J Exp Med* 206:1057-1071.
- 85. Steele, E. J. 2009. Mechanism of somatic hypermutation: critical analysis of strand biased mutation signatures at A:T and G:C base pairs. *Mol Immunol* 46:305-320.
- 86. Kaetzel, C. S. 2005. The polymeric immunoglobulin receptor: bridging innate and adaptive immune responses at mucosal surfaces. *Immunol Rev* 206:83-99.
- 87. Johansen, F. E., M. Pekna, I. N. Norderhaug, B. Haneberg, M. A. Hietala, P. Krajci, C. Betsholtz, and P. Brandtzaeg. 1999. Absence of epithelial immunoglobulin A transport, with increased mucosal leakiness, in polymeric immunoglobulin receptor/secretory component-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* 190:915-922.
- 88. Jung, S., K. Rajewsky, and A. Radbruch. 1993. Shutdown of class switch recombination by deletion of a switch region control element. *Science* 259:984-987.
- Schrader, C. E., E. K. Linehan, S. N. Mochegova, R. T. Woodland, and J. Stavnezer. 2005. Inducible DNA breaks in Ig S regions are dependent on AID and UNG. *J Exp Med* 202:561-568.
- 90. Rada, C., G. T. Williams, H. Nilsen, D. E. Barnes, T. Lindahl, and M. S. Neuberger. 2002. Immunoglobulin isotype switching is inhibited and somatic hypermutation perturbed in UNG-deficient mice. *Curr Biol* 12:1748-1755.
- 91. Guikema, J. E., E. K. Linehan, D. Tsuchimoto, Y. Nakabeppu, P. R. Strauss, J. Stavnezer, and C. E. Schrader. 2007. APE1- and APE2-dependent DNA breaks in immunoglobulin class switch recombination. *J Exp Med* 204:3017-3026.
- 92. von Schwedler, U., H. M. Jack, and M. Wabl. 1990. Circular DNA is a product of the immunoglobulin class switch rearrangement. *Nature* 345:452-456.
- 93. Iwasato, T., A. Shimizu, T. Honjo, and H. Yamagishi. 1990. Circular DNA is excised by immunoglobulin class switch recombination. *Cell* 62:143-149.
- 94. Kinoshita, K., M. Harigai, S. Fagarasan, M. Muramatsu, and T. Honjo. 2001. A hallmark of active class switch recombination: transcripts directed by I promoters on looped-out circular DNAs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:12620-12623.
- 95. Berek, C., A. Berger, and M. Apel. 1991. Maturation of the immune response in germinal centers. *Cell* 67:1121-1129.
- 96. Rada, C., J. M. Di Noia, and M. S. Neuberger. 2004. Mismatch recognition and uracil excision provide complementary paths to both Ig switching and the A/T-focused phase of somatic mutation. *Mol Cell* 16:163-171.
- 97. Neuberger, M. S., and C. Rada. 2007. Somatic hypermutation: activation-induced deaminase for C/G followed by polymerase eta for A/T. *J Exp Med* 204:7-10.
- 98. Masuda, K., R. Ouchida, M. Hikida, T. Kurosaki, M. Yokoi, C. Masutani, M. Seki, R. D. Wood, F. Hanaoka, and O. W. J. 2007. DNA polymerases eta and theta function in the same genetic pathway to generate mutations at A/T during somatic hypermutation of Ig genes. *J Biol Chem* 282:17387-17394.

- 99. Bardwell, P. D., C. J. Woo, K. Wei, Z. Li, A. Martin, S. Z. Sack, T. Parris, W. Edelmann, and M. D. Scharff. 2004. Altered somatic hypermutation and reduced class-switch recombination in exonuclease 1-mutant mice. *Nat Immunol* 5:224-229.
- 100. Haberman, A. M., and M. J. Shlomchik. 2003. Reassessing the function of immunecomplex retention by follicular dendritic cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3:757-764.
- 101. MacLennan, I. C. 1994. Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol 12:117-139.
- Or-Guil, M., N. Wittenbrink, A. A. Weiser, and J. Schuchhardt. 2007. Recirculation of germinal center B cells: a multilevel selection strategy for antibody maturation. *Immunol Rev* 216:130-141.
- 103. Kepler, T. B., and A. S. Perelson. 1993. Cyclic re-entry of germinal center B cells and the efficiency of affinity maturation. *Immunol Today* 14:412-415.
- 104. Whitman, W. B., D. C. Coleman, and W. J. Wiebe. 1998. Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95:6578-6583.
- 105. Shroff, K. E., K. Meslin, and J. J. Cebra. 1995. Commensal enteric bacteria engender a self-limiting humoral mucosal immune response while permanently colonizing the gut. *Infect Immun* 63:3904-3913.
- 106. Macpherson, A. J., L. Hunziker, K. McCoy, and A. Lamarre. 2001. IgA responses in the intestinal mucosa against pathogenic and non-pathogenic microorganisms. *Microbes Infect* 3:1021-1035.
- 107. Macpherson, A. J. 2006. IgA adaptation to the presence of commensal bacteria in the intestine. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 308:117-136.
- 108. Benveniste, J., G. Lespinats, and J. Salomon. 1971. Serum and secretory IgA in axenic and holoxenic mice. *J Immunol* 107:1656-1662.
- 109. Conley, M. E., and D. L. Delacroix. 1987. Intravascular and mucosal immunoglobulin A: two separate but related systems of immune defense? *Ann Intern Med* 106:892-899.
- 110. Mestecky, J., M. W. Russell, S. Jackson, and T. A. Brown. 1986. The human IgA system: a reassessment. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 40:105-114.
- Suzuki, K., B. Meek, Y. Doi, M. Muramatsu, T. Chiba, T. Honjo, and S. Fagarasan.
 2004. Aberrant expansion of segmented filamentous bacteria in IgA-deficient gut. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:1981-1986.
- 112. Macpherson, A. J., D. Gatto, E. Sainsbury, G. R. Harriman, H. Hengartner, and R. M. Zinkernagel. 2000. A primitive T cell-independent mechanism of intestinal mucosal IgA responses to commensal bacteria. *Science* 288:2222-2226.
- 113. Bos, N. A., J. J. Cebra, and F. G. Kroese. 2000. B-1 cells and the intestinal microflora. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 252:211-220.
- 114. Macpherson, A. J., and T. Uhr. 2004. Compartmentalization of the mucosal immune responses to commensal intestinal bacteria. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1029:36-43.
- 115. He, B., W. Xu, P. A. Santini, A. D. Polydorides, A. Chiu, J. Estrella, M. Shan, A. Chadburn, V. Villanacci, A. Plebani, D. M. Knowles, M. Rescigno, and A. Cerutti. 2007. Intestinal Bacteria Trigger T Cell-Independent Immunoglobulin A2 Class Switching by Inducing Epithelial-Cell Secretion of the Cytokine APRIL. *Immunity* 26:812-826.
- 116. Cerutti, A. 2008. Location, location: B-cell differentiation in the gut lamina propria. *Mucosal Immunol* 1:8-10.
- 117. Craig, S. W., and J. J. Cebra. 1971. Peyer's patches: an enriched source of precursors for IgA-producing immunocytes in the rabbit. *J Exp Med* 134:188-200.
- 118. Husband, A. J., and J. L. Gowans. 1978. The origin and antigen-dependent distribution of IgA-containing cells in the intestine. *J Exp Med* 148:1146-1160.
- 119. Fagarasan, S., K. Kinoshita, M. Muramatsu, K. Ikuta, and T. Honjo. 2001. In situ class switching and differentiation to IgA-producing cells in the gut lamina propria. *Nature* 413:639-643.

- 120. Shikina, T., T. Hiroi, K. Iwatani, M. H. Jang, S. Fukuyama, M. Tamura, T. Kubo, H. Ishikawa, and H. Kiyono. 2004. IgA class switch occurs in the organized nasopharynxand gut-associated lymphoid tissue, but not in the diffuse lamina propria of airways and gut. *J Immunol* 172:6259-6264.
- 121. Lebman, D. A., F. D. Lee, and R. L. Coffman. 1990. Mechanism for transforming growth factor beta and IL-2 enhancement of IgA expression in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated B cell cultures. *J Immunol* 144:952-959.
- 122. Shockett, P., and J. Stavnezer. 1991. Effect of cytokines on switching to IgA and alpha germline transcripts in the B lymphoma I.29 mu. Transforming growth factor-beta activates transcription of the unrearranged C alpha gene. *J Immunol* 147:4374-4383.
- 123. Shi, M. J., and J. Stavnezer. 1998. CBF alpha3 (AML2) is induced by TGF-beta1 to bind and activate the mouse germline Ig alpha promoter. *J Immunol* 161:6751-6760.
- 124. Zan, H., A. Cerutti, P. Dramitinos, A. Schaffer, and P. Casali. 1998. CD40 engagement triggers switching to IgA1 and IgA2 in human B cells through induction of endogenous TGF-beta: evidence for TGF-beta but not IL-10-dependent direct S mu-->S alpha and sequential S mu-->S gamma, S gamma-->S alpha DNA recombination. *J Immunol* 161:5217-5225.
- 125. Chen, M. L., B. S. Yan, Y. Bando, V. K. Kuchroo, and H. L. Weiner. 2008. Latencyassociated peptide identifies a novel CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell subset with TGFbeta-mediated function and enhanced suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 180:7327-7337.
- 126. Li, M. O., Y. Y. Wan, S. Sanjabi, A. K. Robertson, and R. A. Flavell. 2006. Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 24:99-146.
- 127. Tsuji, M., K. Suzuki, H. Kitamura, M. Maruya, K. Kinoshita, Ivanov, II, K. Itoh, D. R. Littman, and S. Fagarasan. 2008. Requirement for lymphoid tissue-inducer cells in isolated follicle formation and T cell-independent immunoglobulin a generation in the gut. *Immunity* 29:261-271.
- 128. Fagarasan, S. 2008. Evolution, development, mechanism and function of IgA in the gut. *Curr Opin Immunol* 20:170-177.
- 129. Hiroi, T., M. Yanagita, H. Iijima, K. Iwatani, T. Yoshida, K. Takatsu, and H. Kiyono. 1999. Deficiency of IL-5 receptor alpha-chain selectively influences the development of the common mucosal immune system independent IgA-producing B-1 cell in mucosaassociated tissues. *J Immunol* 162:821-828.
- Ramsay, A. J., A. J. Husband, I. A. Ramshaw, S. Bao, K. I. Matthaei, G. Koehler, and M. Kopf. 1994. The role of interleukin-6 in mucosal IgA antibody responses in vivo. *Science* 264:561-563.
- 131. Kanswal, S., N. Katsenelson, A. Selvapandiyan, R. J. Bram, and M. Akkoyunlu. 2008. Deficient TACI expression on B lymphocytes of newborn mice leads to defective Ig secretion in response to BAFF or APRIL. *J Immunol* 181:976-990.
- Castigli, E., S. Scott, F. Dedeoglu, P. Bryce, H. Jabara, A. K. Bhan, E. Mizoguchi, and R. S. Geha. 2004. Impaired IgA class switching in APRIL-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:3903-3908.
- 133. Castigli, E., S. A. Wilson, S. Scott, F. Dedeoglu, S. Xu, K. P. Lam, R. J. Bram, H. Jabara, and R. S. Geha. 2005. TACI and BAFF-R mediate isotype switching in B cells. *J Exp Med* 201:35-39.
- 134. Mackay, F., P. Schneider, P. Rennert, and J. Browning. 2003. BAFF AND APRIL: a tutorial on B cell survival. *Annu Rev Immunol* 21:231-264.
- 135. Schneider, P. 2005. The role of APRIL and BAFF in lymphocyte activation. *Curr Opin Immunol* 17:282-289.

- 136. Mackay, F., and J. L. Browning. 2002. BAFF: a fundamental survival factor for B cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2:465-475.
- Litinskiy, M. B., B. Nardelli, D. M. Hilbert, B. He, A. Schaffer, P. Casali, and A. Cerutti. 2002. DCs induce CD40-independent immunoglobulin class switching through BLyS and APRIL. *Nat Immunol* 3:822-829.
- 138. Tezuka, H., Y. Abe, M. Iwata, H. Takeuchi, H. Ishikawa, M. Matsushita, T. Shiohara, S. Akira, and T. Ohteki. 2007. Regulation of IgA production by naturally occurring TNF/ iNOS-producing dendritic cells. *Nature* 448:929-933.
- Massacand, J. C., P. Kaiser, B. Ernst, A. Tardivel, K. Burki, P. Schneider, and N. L. Harris. 2008. Intestinal bacteria condition dendritic cells to promote IgA production. *PLoS ONE* 3:e2588.
- 140. Brandtzaeg, P., and R. Pabst. 2004. Let's go mucosal: communication on slippery ground. *Trends Immunol* 25:570-577.
- 141. Brandtzaeg, P., H. Kiyono, R. Pabst, and M. W. Russell. 2008. Terminology: nomenclature of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. *Mucosal Immunol* 1:31-37.
- 142. MacDonald, T. T. 2003. The mucosal immune system. *Parasite Immunol* 25:235-246.
- 143. Newberry, R. D., and R. G. Lorenz. 2005. Organizing a mucosal defense. *Immunol Rev* 206:6-21.
- 144. Makala, L. H., N. Suzuki, and H. Nagasawa. 2002. Peyer's patches: organized lymphoid structures for the induction of mucosal immune responses in the intestine. *Pathobiology* 70:55-68.
- 145. Bockman, D. E., and M. D. Cooper. 1973. Pinocytosis by epithelium associated with lymphoid follicles in the bursa of Fabricius, appendix, and Peyer's patches. An electron microscopic study. *Am J Anat* 136:455-477.
- 146. Junt, T., E. Scandella, and B. Ludewig. 2008. Form follows function: lymphoid tissue microarchitecture in antimicrobial immune defence. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8:764-775.
- 147. Neutra, M. R., A. Frey, and J. P. Kraehenbuhl. 1996. Epithelial M cells: gateways for mucosal infection and immunization. *Cell* 86:345-348.
- Corr, S. C., C. C. Gahan, and C. Hill. 2008. M-cells: origin, morphology and role in mucosal immunity and microbial pathogenesis. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 52:2-12.
- 149. Newberry, R. D. 2008. Intestinal lymphoid tissues: is variety an asset or a liability? *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* 24:121-128.
- 150. Brandtzaeg, P., E. S. Baekkevold, I. N. Farstad, F. L. Jahnsen, F. E. Johansen, E. M. Nilsen, and T. Yamanaka. 1999. Regional specialization in the mucosal immune system: what happens in the microcompartments? *Immunol Today* 20:141-151.
- 151. Farstad, I. N., T. S. Halstensen, O. Fausa, and P. Brandtzaeg. 1994. Heterogeneity of M-cell-associated B and T cells in human Peyer's patches. *Immunology* 83:457-464.
- Iwasaki, A., and B. L. Kelsall. 2000. Localization of distinct Peyer's patch dendritic cell subsets and their recruitment by chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3alpha, MIP-3beta, and secondary lymphoid organ chemokine. *J Exp Med* 191:1381-1394.
- Casola, S., K. L. Otipoby, M. Alimzhanov, S. Humme, N. Uyttersprot, J. L. Kutok, M. C. Carroll, and K. Rajewsky. 2004. B cell receptor signal strength determines B cell fate. *Nat Immunol* 5:317-327.
- 154. Hamada, H., T. Hiroi, Y. Nishiyama, H. Takahashi, Y. Masunaga, S. Hachimura, S. Kaminogawa, H. Takahashi-Iwanaga, T. Iwanaga, H. Kiyono, H. Yamamoto, and H. Ishikawa. 2002. Identification of multiple isolated lymphoid follicles on the antimesenteric wall of the mouse small intestine. *J Immunol* 168:57-64.

- 155. Pabst, O., H. Herbrand, M. Friedrichsen, S. Velaga, M. Dorsch, G. Berhardt, T. Worbs, A. J. Macpherson, and R. Forster. 2006. Adaptation of solitary intestinal lymphoid tissue in response to microbiota and chemokine receptor CCR7 signaling. *J Immunol* 177:6824-6832.
- 156. Bouskra, D., C. Brézillon, M. Bérard, C. Werts, R. Varona, I. G. Boneca, and G. r. Eberl. 2008. Lymphoid tissue genesis induced by commensals through NOD1 regulates intestinal homeostasis. *Nature* 456:507-510.
- 157. Eberl, G. 2005. Inducible lymphoid tissues in the adult gut: recapitulation of a fetal developmental pathway? *Nat Rev Immunol* 5:413-420.
- 158. Lorenz, R. G., D. D. Chaplin, K. G. McDonald, J. S. McDonough, and R. D. Newberry. 2003. Isolated lymphoid follicle formation is inducible and dependent upon lymphotoxinsufficient B lymphocytes, lymphotoxin beta receptor, and TNF receptor I function. J Immunol 170:5475-5482.
- 159. Glaysher, B. R., and N. A. Mabbott. 2007. Isolated lymphoid follicle maturation induces the development of follicular dendritic cells. *Immunology* 120:336-344.
- Fagarasan, S., M. Muramatsu, K. Suzuki, H. Nagaoka, H. Hiai, and T. Honjo. 2002. Critical roles of activation-induced cytidine deaminase in the homeostasis of gut flora. *Science* 298:1424-1427.
- 161. Yamamoto, M., M. N. Kweon, P. D. Rennert, T. Hiroi, K. Fujihashi, J. R. McGhee, and H. Kiyono. 2004. Role of gut-associated lymphoreticular tissues in antigen-specific intestinal IgA immunity. *J Immunol* 173:762-769.
- 162. Lorenz, R. G., and R. D. Newberry. 2004. Isolated lymphoid follicles can function as sites for induction of mucosal immune responses. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1029:44-57.
- 163. MacPherson, G., S. Milling, U. Yrlid, L. Cousins, E. Turnbull, and F. P. Huang. 2004. Uptake of antigens from the intestine by dendritic cells. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1029:75-82.
- 164. Pabst, O., B. Wahl, G. Bernhardt, and S. I. Hammerschmidt. 2009. Mesenteric lymph node stroma cells in the generation of intestinal immune responses. *J Mol Med*.
- 165. Yamamoto, M., P. Rennert, J. R. McGhee, M. N. Kweon, S. Yamamoto, T. Dohi, S. Otake, H. Bluethmann, K. Fujihashi, and H. Kiyono. 2000. Alternate mucosal immune system: organized Peyer's patches are not required for IgA responses in the gastrointestinal tract. *J Immunol* 164:5184-5191.
- 166. Macpherson, A. J., and T. Uhr. 2004. Induction of protective IgA by intestinal dendritic cells carrying commensal bacteria. *Science* 303:1662-1665.
- Worbs, T., U. Bode, S. Yan, M. W. Hoffmann, G. Hintzen, G. Bernhardt, R. Forster, and O. Pabst. 2006. Oral tolerance originates in the intestinal immune system and relies on antigen carriage by dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 203:519-527.
- 168. Spahn, T. W., A. Fontana, A. M. Faria, A. J. Slavin, H. P. Eugster, X. Zhang, P. A. Koni, N. H. Ruddle, R. A. Flavell, P. D. Rennert, and H. L. Weiner. 2001. Induction of oral tolerance to cellular immune responses in the absence of Peyer's patches. *Eur J Immunol* 31:1278-1287.
- 169. Iweala, O. I., and C. R. Nagler. 2006. Immune privilege in the gut: the establishment and maintenance of non-responsiveness to dietary antigens and commensal flora. *Immunol Rev* 213:82-100.
- 170. Mowat, A. M. 2003. Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3:331-341.
- 171. Macpherson, A. J., and K. Smith. 2006. Mesenteric lymph nodes at the center of immune anatomy. *J Exp Med* 203:497-500.
- 172. Mora, J. R., and U. H. von Andrian. 2009. Role of retinoic acid in the imprinting of guthoming IgA-secreting cells. *Semin Immunol* 21:28-35.

- 173. Mora, J. R., M. Iwata, B. Eksteen, S. Y. Song, T. Junt, B. Senman, K. L. Otipoby, A. Yokota, H. Takeuchi, P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli, K. Rajewsky, D. H. Adams, and U. H. von Andrian. 2006. Generation of gut-homing IgA-secreting B cells by intestinal dendritic cells. *Science* 314:1157-1160.
- Pabst, O., L. Ohl, M. Wendland, M. A. Wurbel, E. Kremmer, B. Malissen, and R. Forster.
 2004. Chemokine receptor CCR9 contributes to the localization of plasma cells to the small intestine. *J Exp Med* 199:411-416.
- 175. Briskin, M., D. Winsor-Hines, A. Shyjan, N. Cochran, S. Bloom, J. Wilson, L. M. McEvoy, E. C. Butcher, N. Kassam, C. R. Mackay, W. Newman, and D. J. Ringler. 1997. Human mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 is preferentially expressed in intestinal tract and associated lymphoid tissue. *Am J Pathol* 151:97-110.
- 176. Streeter, P. R., E. L. Berg, B. T. Rouse, R. F. Bargatze, and E. C. Butcher. 1988. A tissuespecific endothelial cell molecule involved in lymphocyte homing. *Nature* 331:41-46.
- 177. Nakache, M., E. L. Berg, P. R. Streeter, and E. C. Butcher. 1989. The mucosal vascular addressin is a tissue-specific endothelial cell adhesion molecule for circulating lymphocytes. *Nature* 337:179-181.
- Farstad, I. N., T. S. Halstensen, A. I. Lazarovits, J. Norstein, O. Fausa, and P. Brandtzaeg. 1995. Human intestinal B-cell blasts and plasma cells express the mucosal homing receptor integrin alpha 4 beta 7. *Scand J Immunol* 42:662-672.
- Bowman, E. P., N. A. Kuklin, K. R. Youngman, N. H. Lazarus, E. J. Kunkel, J. Pan, H. B. Greenberg, and E. C. Butcher. 2002. The intestinal chemokine thymus-expressed chemokine (CCL25) attracts IgA antibody-secreting cells. *J Exp Med* 195:269-275.
- 180. Hieshima, K., Y. Kawasaki, H. Hanamoto, T. Nakayama, D. Nagakubo, A. Kanamaru, and O. Yoshie. 2004. CC chemokine ligands 25 and 28 play essential roles in intestinal extravasation of IgA antibody-secreting cells. *J Immunol* 173:3668-3675.
- 181. Feng, N., M. C. Jaimes, N. H. Lazarus, D. Monak, C. Zhang, E. C. Butcher, and H. B. Greenberg. 2006. Redundant role of chemokines CCL25/TECK and CCL28/MEC in IgA+ plasmablast recruitment to the intestinal lamina propria after rotavirus infection. J Immunol 176:5749-5759.
- 182. Uematsu, S., K. Fujimoto, M. H. Jang, B. G. Yang, Y. J. Jung, M. Nishiyama, S. Sato, T. Tsujimura, M. Yamamoto, Y. Yokota, H. Kiyono, M. Miyasaka, K. J. Ishii, and S. Akira. 2008. Regulation of humoral and cellular gut immunity by lamina propria dendritic cells expressing Toll-like receptor 5. *Nat Immunol* 9:769-776.
- 183. Soumelis, V., P. A. Reche, H. Kanzler, W. Yuan, G. Edward, B. Homey, M. Gilliet, S. Ho, S. Antonenko, A. Lauerma, K. Smith, D. Gorman, S. Zurawski, J. Abrams, S. Menon, T. McClanahan, R. de Waal-Malefyt Rd, F. Bazan, R. A. Kastelein, and Y. J. Liu. 2002. Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. *Nat Immunol* 3:673-680.
- 184. Rescigno, M., M. Urbano, B. Valzasina, M. Francolini, G. Rotta, R. Bonasio, F. Granucci, J. P. Kraehenbuhl, and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli. 2001. Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. *Nat Immunol* 2:361-367.
- 185. Rescigno, M., G. Rotta, B. Valzasina, and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli. 2001. Dendritic cells shuttle microbes across gut epithelial monolayers. *Immunobiology* 204:572-581.
- 186. Butcher, E. C., R. V. Rouse, R. L. Coffman, C. N. Nottenburg, R. R. Hardy, and I. L. Weissman. 1982. Surface phenotype of Peyer's patch germinal center cells: implications for the role of germinal centers in B cell differentiation. *J Immunol* 129:2698-2707.
- Laszlo, G., K. S. Hathcock, H. B. Dickler, and R. J. Hodes. 1993. Characterization of a novel cell-surface molecule expressed on subpopulations of activated T and B cells. J Immunol 150:5252-5262.

- 188. Naito, Y., H. Takematsu, S. Koyama, S. Miyake, H. Yamamoto, R. Fujinawa, M. Sugai, Y. Okuno, G. Tsujimoto, T. Yamaji, Y. Hashimoto, S. Itohara, T. Kawasaki, A. Suzuki, and Y. Kozutsumi. 2007. Germinal center marker GL7 probes activation-dependent repression of N-glycolylneuraminic acid, a sialic acid species involved in the negative modulation of B-cell activation. *Mol Cell Biol* 27:3008-3022.
- 189. Gerdes, J., U. Schwab, H. Lemke, and H. Stein. 1983. Production of a mouse monoclonal antibody reactive with a human nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation. *Int J Cancer* 31:13-20.
- 190. Kaminski, D. A., and J. Stavnezer. 2004. Antibody class switching: uncoupling S region accessibility from transcription. *Trends Genet* 20:337-340.
- 191. Stoel, M., H. Q. Jiang, C. C. van Diemen, J. C. Bun, P. M. Dammers, M. C. Thurnheer, F. G. Kroese, J. J. Cebra, and N. A. Bos. 2005. Restricted IgA repertoire in both B-1 and B-2 cell-derived gut plasmablasts. *J Immunol* 174:1046-1054.
- 192. Weiss, U., and K. Rajewsky. 1990. The repertoire of somatic antibody mutants accumulating in the memory compartment after primary immunization is restricted through affinity maturation and mirrors that expressed in the secondary response. *J Exp Med* 172:1681-1689.
- 193. Cumano, A., and K. Rajewsky. 1985. Structure of primary anti-(4-hydroxy-3nitrophenyl)acetyl (NP) antibodies in normal and idiotypically suppressed C57BL/6 mice. *Eur J Immunol* 15:512-520.
- 194. Jack, R. S., T. Imanishi-Kari, and K. Rajewsky. 1977. Idiotypic analysis of the response of C57BL/6 mice to the (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl group. *Eur J Immunol* 7:559-565.
- 195. Reth, M., G. J. Hammerling, and K. Rajewsky. 1978. Analysis of the repertoire of anti-NP antibodies in C57BL/6 mice by cell fusion. I. Characterization of antibody families in the primary and hyperimmune response. *Eur J Immunol* 8:393-400.
- 196. Allen, D., T. Simon, F. Sablitzky, K. Rajewsky, and A. Cumano. 1988. Antibody engineering for the analysis of affinity maturation of an anti-hapten response. *EMBO J* 7:1995-2001.
- Castigli, E., F. W. Alt, L. Davidson, A. Bottaro, E. Mizoguchi, A. K. Bhan, and R. S. Geha. 1994. CD40-deficient mice generated by recombination-activating gene-2-deficient blastocyst complementation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91:12135-12139.
- 198. Kawabe, T., T. Naka, K. Yoshida, T. Tanaka, H. Fujiwara, S. Suematsu, N. Yoshida, T. Kishimoto, and H. Kikutani. 1994. The immune responses in CD40-deficient mice: impaired immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. *Immunity* 1:167-178.
- 199. Lougaris, V., R. Badolato, S. Ferrari, and A. Plebani. 2005. Hyper immunoglobulin M syndrome due to CD40 deficiency: clinical, molecular, and immunological features. *Immunol Rev* 203:48-66.
- 200. McWilliams, M., J. M. Phillips-Quagliata, and M. E. Lamm. 1977. Mesenteric lymph node B lymphoblasts which home to the small intestine are precommitted to IgA synthesis. *J Exp Med* 145:866-875.
- 201. Peterson, D. A., N. P. McNulty, J. L. Guruge, and J. I. Gordon. 2007. IgA Response to Symbiotic Bacteria as a Mediator of Gut Homeostasis. *Cell Host & Microbe* 2:328-339.
- 202. Williams, A. M., C. S. Probert, R. Stepankova, H. Tlaskalova-Hogenova, A. Phillips, and P. W. Bland. 2006. Effects of microflora on the neonatal development of gut mucosal T cells and myeloid cells in the mouse. *Immunology* 119:470-478.
- Wolniak, K. L., R. J. Noelle, and T. J. Waldschmidt. 2006. Characterization of (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl (NP)-specific germinal center B cells and antigen-binding B220cells after primary NP challenge in mice. *J Immunol* 177:2072-2079.

- 204. Takahashi, Y., P. R. Dutta, D. M. Cerasoli, and G. Kelsoe. 1998. In situ studies of the primary immune response to (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl. V. Affinity maturation develops in two stages of clonal selection. *J Exp Med* 187:885-895.
- 205. Gardby, E., J. Wrammert, K. Schon, L. Ekman, T. Leanderson, and N. Lycke. 2003. Strong differential regulation of serum and mucosal IgA responses as revealed in CD28deficient mice using cholera toxin adjuvant. *J Immunol* 170:55-63.
- 206. Fagarasan, S. 2006. Intestinal IgA synthesis: a primitive form of adaptive immunity that regulates microbial communities in the gut. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 308:137-153.
- 207. Bergqvist, P., E. Gardby, A. Stensson, M. Bemark, and N. Y. Lycke. 2006. Gut IgA Class Switch Recombination in the Absence of CD40 Does Not Occur in the Lamina Propria and Is Independent of Germinal Centers. *J Immunol* 177:7772-7783.
- 208. William, J., C. Euler, S. Christensen, and M. J. Shlomchik. 2002. Evolution of autoantibody responses via somatic hypermutation outside of germinal centers. *Science* 297:2066-2070.
- Forconi, F., S. S. Sahota, D. Raspadori, M. Ippoliti, G. Babbage, F. Lauria, and F. K. Stevenson. 2004. Hairy cell leukemia: at the crossroad of somatic mutation and isotype switch. *Blood* 104:3312-3317.
- 210. Kim, J. H., J. Kim, Y. S. Jang, and G. H. Chung. 2006. Germinal center-independent affinity maturation in tumor necrosis factor receptor 1-deficient mice. *J Biochem Mol Biol* 39:586-594.
- Matsumoto, M., S. F. Lo, C. J. Carruthers, J. Min, S. Mariathasan, G. Huang, D. R. Plas, S. M. Martin, R. S. Geha, M. H. Nahm, and D. D. Chaplin. 1996. Affinity maturation without germinal centres in lymphotoxin-alpha-deficient mice. *Nature* 382:462-466.
- 212. de Waard, R., P. M. Dammers, J. W. Tung, A. B. Kantor, J. A. Wilshire, N. A. Bos, L. A. Herzenberg, and F. G. Kroese. 1998. Presence of germline and full-length IgA RNA transcripts among peritoneal B-1 cells. *Dev Immunol* 6:81-87.
- Schaefer, B. C., M. L. Schaefer, J. W. Kappler, P. Marrack, and R. M. Kedl. 2001. Observation of antigen-dependent CD8+ T-cell/ dendritic cell interactions in vivo. *Cell Immunol* 214:110-122.
- 214. Shih, T. A., M. Roederer, and M. C. Nussenzweig. 2002. Role of antigen receptor affinity in T cell-independent antibody responses in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 3:399-406.
- 215. Macpherson, A. J., and N. L. Harris. 2004. Interactions between commensal intestinal bacteria and the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 4:478-485.
- 216. Zou, F., Y. Liu, L. Liu, K. Wu, W. Wei, Y. Zhu, and J. Wu. 2007. Retinoic acid activates human inducible nitric oxide synthase gene through binding of RARalpha/RXRalpha heterodimer to a novel retinoic acid response element in the promoter. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 355:494-500.
- 217. Mora, J. R., and U. H. von Andrian. 2008. Differentiation and homing of IgA-secreting cells. *Mucosal Immunol* 1:96-109.
- Blier, P. R., and A. L. Bothwell. 1988. The immune response to the hapten NP in C57BL/6 mice: insights into the structure of the B-cell repertoire. *Immunol Rev* 105:27-43.